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VOLKSWAGEN GROU P 
     

   Q 3    Q 1 – 3    

 Volume Data1 2011 2010 % 2011 2010 % 

 Deliveries to customers ('000 units) 2,041 1,796 + 13.7 6,170 5,408 + 14.1 

of which: in Germany 285 240 + 18.9 868 773 + 12.3 

abroad 1,757 1,556 + 12.9 5,302 4,636 + 14.4 

 Vehicle sales ('000 units) 2,067 1,779 + 16.2 6,200 5,345 + 16.0 

of which: in Germany 267 262 + 1.8 901 796 + 13.3 

abroad 1,799 1,517 + 18.6 5,299 4,550 + 16.5 

 Production ('000 units) 2,117 1,762 + 20.2 6,301 5,348 + 17.8 

of which: in Germany 581 453 + 28.1 1,778 1,568 + 13.4 

abroad 1,536 1,308 + 17.4 4,523 3,779 + 19.7 

 Employees ('000 on Sept. 30, 2011/Dec. 31, 2010)       448.7 399.4 + 12.3 

of which: in Germany       191.6 181.3 + 5.7 

abroad       257.1 218.1 + 17.9 
    

 

     

   Q 3    Q 1 - 3    

 Financial Data (IFRSs), € million 2011 2010 % 2011 2010 % 

 Sales revenue 38,512 30,738 + 25.3 116,279 92,547 + 25.6 

 Operating profit 2,891 1,985 + 45.7 8,977 4,826 + 86.0 

 as a percentage of sales revenue  7.5  6.5    7.7  5.2   

 Profit before tax 8,404 2,820 x 16,637 5,444 x 

as a percentage of sales revenue  21.8  9.2    14.3  5.9   

 Profit after tax 7,146 2,205 x 13,642 4,029 x 

Profit attributable to shareholders of Volkswagen AG 7,039 2,104 x 13,306 3,778 x 

              

 Cash flows from operating activities 3,055 3,824 – 20.1 6,736 10,487 – 35.8 

 

Cash flows from investing activities attributable to 

operating activities 2,167 1,878 + 15.4 8,432 6,454 + 30.6 

               

 Automotive Division2             

 EBITDA3 4,455 3,342 + 33.3 13,435 9,822 + 36.8 

 Cash flows from operating activities 3,986 4,242 – 6.0 12,418 11,506 + 7.9 

 

Cash flows from investing activities attributable to 

operating activities4 2,098 1,809 + 16.0 8,605 6,327 + 36.0 

 

of which: investments in property, plant and  

   equipment 1,694 1,408 + 20.3 4,227 3,327 + 27.1 

 as a percentage of sales revenue  4.4  5.2    4.1  4.0   

capitalized development costs5 417 496 – 16.0 1,154 1,342 – 14.0 

as a percentage of sales revenue  1.1  1.8    1.1  1.6   

Net cash flow 1,887 2,433 – 22.4 3,813 5,179 – 26.4 

Net liquidity at September 30       21,161 19,644 + 7.7 
    

1 Volume data including the unconsolidated Chinese joint ventures. These companies are accounted for using the equity method. All figures shown are rounded, so 

minor discrepancies may arise from addition of these amounts. 2010 deliveries updated on the basis of statistical extrapolations. 

2 Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions. 

3 Operating profit plus net depreciation/amortization and impairment losses/reversals of impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, capitalized 

development costs, leasing and rental assets, goodwill and financial assets as reported in the cash flow statement. 

4 Excluding acquisition and disposal of equity investments: Q3 €2,089 million (€1,724 million), Q1–3 €5,265 million (€4,332 million).  

5 See table on page 33.
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Key Facts Key Events  

U PDATED I N FORMATION 

> Volkswagen Group successfully continues its growth in the reporting period 

> Operating profit up €4.2 billion on the prior-year figure, to €9.0 billion 

> Planned merger with Porsche Automobil Holding SE cannot be implemented within the 
time frame laid down in the Comprehensive Agreement; nevertheless, all parties 
remain committed to the goal of creating an integrated automotive group 

> Profit before tax up €11.2 billion to €16.6 billion; positive effects from equity-
accounted investments and from measurement of put/call rights relating to  
Porsche Zwischenholding GmbH at the reporting date (€6.8 billion) 

> Group sales revenue up 25.6% year-on-year at €116.3 billion 

> Cash flows from operating activities in the Automotive Division improve by €0.9 billion 
to €12.4 billion; ratio of investments in property, plant and equipment (capex) to sales 
revenue amounts to 4.1% (4.0%) 

> Automotive Division net liquidity remains at a high level of €21.2 billion 

> Group models offer compelling customer proposition worldwide: 

- Group deliveries to customers up 14.1% on the prior-year period to 6.2 million 
vehicles; global market share improves to 12.4% (11.6%) 

- Double-digit growth rates recorded in nearly all regions 

- Volkswagen Group thrills visitors to the IAA in Frankfurt 

- World premiere of Volkswagen Passenger Cars’ up! is the highlight of the show 

- Audi unveils electric A2 concept car; sporty S versions of A6, A7 Sportback and A8 
captivate visitors 

- ŠKODA’s MissionL concept car offers outlook on sixth model series 

- SEAT emphasizes brand’s future design language with IBL concept study 

- Bentley presents the new Continental GT Cabriolet; Lamborghini and Bugatti also 
attract attention with fascinating vehicles 

- Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles unveils 8-gear automatic gearbox version of the 
Amarok 

- Scania celebrates 100 years of bus production  
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I NTERNATIONAL MOTOR SHOW (IA A)  

The Volkswagen Group presented visitors to the 64th Inter-

national Motor Show (IAA) in Frankfurt am Main, held 

under the motto “Future comes as standard”, with a wide 

range of fascinating models. 

The focus of attention at the Volkswagen Passenger Cars 

brand’s stand was the world premiere of the new entry-

level model in the range, the up!. This compact runabout 

offers an impressive combination of maximum room 

within minimum dimensions, safety features such as ESP 

and the city emergency braking function, and compelling 

quality. Coupled with its pared-down design, this gives the 

up! an attractive, high-quality appearance. State-of-the-art 

navigation and infotainment solutions intelligently round 

off the vehicle concept. Volkswagen presented both the 

three basic versions of the up! that will be available in 

Europe from December 2011 onwards and six concept 

cars for the model. These included the robust cross up!, 

the sporty GT up!, the natural gas-powered eco up!, which 

emits a mere 79 g/km of CO2 and the purely electric 

version, the e-up!, series production of which will start in 

2013. In addition to presenting the up!, Volkswagen also 

unveiled a large number of other world premieres. 

Together with the R-Line versions of the Polo and the 

Tiguan, the Beetle R Concept, and the Golf Cabriolet 

Exclusive and Phaeton Exclusive Concept were shown in 

public for the first time. Volkswagen Passenger Cars also 

took a look at what the future will bring with the NILS 

concept car. The single-seater electric vehicle with its 

futuristic design has an aluminum space frame chassis, 

wing doors and open wheels, and weighs a mere 460 kg. 

This fascinating, sustainable form of urban mobility 

incorporates the findings of future studies and vehicle 

research, and was specifically developed to meet the needs 

of tomorrow’s commuters. The project is sponsored by the 

Federal Ministry of Transport, Building and Urban 

Development. 

The Audi brand’s stand was one of the highlights of the 

Frankfurt show in its own right: the “Audi Ring” – a tempo-

rary building constructed specially for the marque – with 

its 400-meter long integrated test track and suitably 

dynamic design was a magnet for visitors. Inside, the main 

focus of interest was on the Audi A2 concept car. The 

technical study is an evolution of the Audi A2 and is 

powered solely by electricity, permitting sustainable 

mobility in megacities. Thanks to its 85 kW (116 PS) 

electric motor, the A2 concept car can accelerate from 0 to 

100 km/h in only 9.3 seconds, while its lithium ion battery  

gives it a range of 200 km. Audi took a step further with the 

Audi urban concept and Audi urban concept Spyder. The 

electrically powered twin-seaters offer a carbon chassis 

and open wheels, combining elements of a racing car and 

a roadster with those of a future urban vehicle. Rounding 

off the Audi brand’s display were the new, sporty S61, S6 

Avant1, S7 Sportback1 and S81 models, as well as the new 

Audi RS51 and the motorsports Audi A5 DTM. 

The ŠKODA brand is also focusing on the future. The 

close-to-production MissionL concept car offered an 

outlook on the Czech brand’s sixth model series, designed 

to fill the gap between the Fabia and Octavia models. This 

compact saloon has a compellingly clear, youthful design 

that also extends to the interior, which is topped by a 

transparent black glass roof. The MissionL marks the start 

of a model rollout by ŠKODA that is designed to help it sell 

1.5 million vehicles a year by 2018 at the latest. 

The SEAT brand’s IBL concept car follows in the 

footsteps of the concept vehicles presented at earlier 

shows, further underlining the appearance of future SEAT 

models. The IBL, which combines elements drawn from 

both saloons and sports coupes, features a minimalist, 

purist exterior design and a high-quality, precision-

engineered interior. Also on show in Frankfurt was the 

next generation of the Exeo model series. 

Bentley presented the new generation of the Conti-

nental GT Cabriolet2. The new GTC has sharper contours 

than its predecessor, giving it a contemporary, self-

assured image. The spacious interior of the four-seater, 

which is hand-made from exquisite materials, offers 

plenty of room for the luxury synonymous with the Bentley 

brand. 

A more extreme experience was on show at the 

Lamborghini stand. The Italian luxury brand showed 

visitors the Lamborghini Gallardo LP 570-4 Super Trofeo 

Stradale2, a limited-edition super sports car (only 150 will 

be made) that combines racing car elements with state-of-

the-art automotive construction. The 419 kW (570 PS) V10 

engine takes the new top-of-the-range model in the 

Gallardo series from 0 to 100 km/h in only 3.4 seconds. 

Bugatti’s Frankfurt offering, the Grand Sport L’Or 

Blanc, is the first car in the world to use porcelain 

elements in its internal and external design. The vehicle, 

the only one of its kind, is the fruit of a collaboration with 

Königliche Porzellan-Manufaktur Berlin. The L’Or Blanc’s 

unique blue and white exterior, the result of a special new 

painting process, makes it an artwork on four wheels. 

 

Key Events 

1  No binding consumption and emission data is currently available for this model. 

2  Consumption and emission data can be found on page 11 of this report. 

 



 
 

 
 
 

 

3

Key Facts Key Events  

U PDATED I N FORMATION 

The new Multivan BlueMotion2 was one of the highlights 

at the Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles stand. At 6.4 liters 

of diesel/100 km, the van’s fuel economy rating would 

previously have been inconceivably low for this vehicle 

class. Other head turners were the 8-gear automatic 

gearbox version of the Amarok1 and the Caddy Edition 30, 

a special model whose high-quality features and powerful 

engines offer a taste of things to come when this highly 

successful model turns thirty next year. 

 

PRIZES AN D AWARDS 

Once again the Volkswagen Group received a large 

number of prizes and awards in the third quarter of 2011. 

Trade journal “Firmenauto” and the DEKRA organization 

announced the winners of the “Firmenautos des Jahres 

2011” (“Best Company Cars 2011”) competition in July. 

Over 250 fleet managers test-drove 61 different models on 

more than 1,800 occasions, clocking up around 50,000 

test kilometers. Models produced by Volkswagen Passenger 

Cars, Audi, SEAT and ŠKODA were awarded seven first 

places. The separate poll of the magazine’s readers led to 

another three wins, the same number as in the previous 

year. 

For the second time running, German magazine 

“AUTO TEST” awarded electromobility prizes in four cate-

gories in its “E-CAR Awards”. The more than 11,000 

readers who took part voted Volkswagen Passenger Cars’ 

Golf Blue-e-Motion top of the concept car category, 

followed by the Audi brand’s A1 e-tron.  

In August, Verkehrsclub Deutschland (VCD) published 

the most recent version of its “Auto-Umweltliste”, which is 

designed to help environmentally aware consumers 

choose which cars to buy. For the third time running, the 

Touran TSI Eco-Fuel produced the best overall results in 

the seven-seater class thanks to its low fuel consumption 

and emissions. The list also contains many other 

Volkswagen Group models, including the Polo 1.2 TDI 

BlueMotion2, which came second in the “Best for the 

Environment” class with CO2 emissions of 87 g/km. 

Also in August, both the new Golf Cabriolet and the 

Jetta scored top marks (five stars) in the European NCAP 

crash test for child occupant protection, adult occupant 

protection and pedestrian protection. This means that the 

two models produced by Volkswagen Passenger Cars are 

among the safest vehicles in their respective classes.  

Volkswagen is the most trusted automobile brand in 

Germany according to the “European Trusted Brand” 

study published by “Reader’s Digest” magazine in August. 

Roughly 33,000 consumers in a total of 16 countries rated

the quality, image and trustworthiness of 33 different 

product categories. Volkswagen came top of the class in 

the “Automobiles in Germany” category, winning a “Pegasus 

Award 2011”. 

 

AN N IVERSARI ES 

Volkswagen and First Automotive Works (FAW) celebrated 

the twentieth anniversary of the FAW-Volkswagen joint 

venture in August with a ceremony in the Chinese city of 

Changchun. During this period, the two companies have 

had a key influence on mobility in China and created more 

than 15,000 qualified jobs. Today, FAW-Volkswagen is one 

of China’s largest automobile manufacturers; more than 

five million vehicles have rolled off the production line 

since operations started. Annual production is expected to 

top the figure of one million vehicles for the first time in 2011.  

The Gläserne Manufaktur Dresden welcomed its one 

millionth visitor in July 2011 – ten years after it opened. 

Last year around another 100,000 people visited the place 

where the Phaeton is made. The visitor service at the 

Gläserne Manufaktur Dresden conducts tours in 14 lan-

guages, with a total of more than 52,000 tours having been 

held to date. 

 

I NTEGRATED AUTOMOTIVE GROU P 

On September 8, 2011, Volkswagen AG announced that 

the planned merger with Porsche Automobil Holding SE 

(Porsche SE) cannot be implemented within the time 

frame laid down in the Comprehensive Agreement. The 

decision was reached by the Board of Management of 

Volkswagen AG following discussions with Porsche SE. 

Nevertheless, all parties remain committed to the goal of 

creating an integrated automotive group with Porsche and 

are convinced that they will succeed in doing so.  

The existing legal hurdles, and particularly those 

resulting from the ongoing proceedings and actions 

against Porsche SE in Germany and the USA due to alleged 

market manipulation, made it impossible from Volks-

wagen’s perspective to quantify the economic risks and 

hence to arrive at a valuation for Porsche SE that could be 

used to determine the exchange ratio.  

The Board of Management is analyzing whether there 

are additional ways of achieving the goal of creating an 

integrated automotive group with Porsche apart from the 

put/call options agreed in the Comprehensive Agreement. 

The results are to be presented to the Supervisory Board 

before the end of the year.  
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EU ROPEAN COMMISSION APPROVES I NCREASED STAKE  
I N MAN SE 

On August 22, 2011, the Volkswagen Group submitted the 

merger control notification required in connection with 

the mandatory offer for shares of MAN SE to the European 

Commission. On September 26, 2011, the European 

Commission granted its approval for Volkswagen to 

increase its equity interest in MAN SE. In addition, a larger 

number of public authorities throughout the world have 

already approved the increase. The Volkswagen Group 

expects that the outstanding approval from the Chinese 

antitrust authorities will also be granted in the coming 

weeks. After receiving all the regulatory approvals and 

completing the mandatory public offer, Volkswagen will 

hold a total of 55.90% of the voting rights and 53.71% of 

the share capital of MAN SE. Closer cooperation between 

MAN, Scania and Volkswagen is expected to lead in the 

future to substantial synergies in the areas of procurement, 

development and production.  

 

EVALUATION PROCESS FOR SUZUKI 

On September 11, 2011, Volkswagen informed Suzuki 

Motor Corporation that, in the Group’s opinion, Suzuki 

had infringed the cooperation agreement signed in 

December 2009. This is the first result of the reevaluation 

of the cooperation that was previously announced and that 

is currently still underway. The notification that the 

agreement has been infringed relates to Suzuki’s sourcing 

of diesel engines from another manufacturer, a move that 

in Volkswagen’s view contravenes the provisions of the 

agreement. In turn, Suzuki has accused Volkswagen of 

infringing the agreement. Volkswagen believes that these 

allegations are unfounded. It is not currently possible to 

assess whether cooperation will be reestablished. Volks-

wagen continues to see Suzuki as an attractive investment. 

 

FUTU RE-DRIVEN I NVESTMENT PAC KAGE APPROVED 

In September 2011, the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen 

AG gave the green light for the largest investment package 

in the Group’s history. With this approval, the Company 

will invest approximately €62.4 billion in the Automotive 

Division over the next five years, thus putting in place key 

preconditions for becoming the economic and environ-

mental leader in the automotive sector. The bulk of the 

investments will be made in environmentally friendly, 

sustainable models and technologies, and in new and 

existing plants. This will help Volkswagen extend its lead-

ership position in the areas of innovation and technology. 

More than half of the Company’s total investments in 

property, plant and equipment of €49.8 billion will be 

made at its German locations. This underscores Germany’s 

importance as a production location in relation to the 

international competition. The package does not include 

investments by the Chinese joint ventures. The latter will 

invest €14.0 billion of their own funds in new plants and 

models in the period from 2012 to 2016. 

 

VOLKSWAGEN EMPLOYEE FOU N DATION 

The Volkswagen Employee Foundation, which was granted 

official state approval on July 26, 2011, started operations 

in the third quarter of 2011. In future, it will sponsor 

social projects at the Group’s locations throughout the 

world. A key focus of its work will be on providing support 

for socially disadvantaged children, young people and 

adolescents. To achieve its goals, the Foundation’s Board 

of Trustees has resolved in a first step to enter into 

cooperation with the children’s charity “terre des homes”. 

The founder is Volkswagen AG. It will make additional 

annual donations in the future based on the Company’s 

performance. The money used by the Foundation to 

support the social projects will mainly come from the 

income generated from the funds donated by the founder. 

 

RATI NG 

In August, rating agency Moody’s Investor Service raised 

its outlook for Volkswagen AG from “stable” to “positive” 

and held out the prospect of a rating upgrade in the next 

12 to 15 months. At present, Moody’s has given Volkswagen 

a long-term rating of “A3”. In support of its decision, the 

agency said that Volkswagen had recovered faster and 

better from the economic crisis than had been expected; 

in particular, it emphasized the Group’s strength in the 

growth markets and its strong model range. 

 

VOLKSWAGEN PREFERRED SHARES I N DJ EU RO STOXX 50 

On September 19, 2011, Volkswagen AG was readmitted to 

the DJ Euro STOXX 50 index, with the inclusion of its 

preferred shares. Previously, the Company’s ordinary shares 

had been included in the index between 2007 and 2010. 

The DJ Euro STOXX 50 index covers 50 major eurozone 

companies and is one of Europe’s most important stock 

market barometers. 
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VOLKSWAGEN SHAR ES 

After the international equity markets trended upwards 

slightly in the first half of 2011, accompanied by pro-

nounced volatility in some cases, share prices slumped in 

the third quarter. Following a volatile phase in July, the 

downgrading by a rating agency of the United States at the 

end of the month triggered a sharp slide that continued 

until September. The ongoing debt crunch in certain 

eurozone countries, and in particular the critical situation 

in Greece, contributed to this development. Fears that the 

global economy would slide into recession spread among 

market participants. Share prices in September moved 

sideways amid substantial volatility in what was an 

uncertain and difficult overall environment. The DAX 

dipped below the 5,000 point mark for a short time. 

On September 30, 2011, the DAX closed at 5,502 points, 

down 20.4% compared with December 31, 2010. At the 

end of the reporting period, the DJ Euro STOXX Automobile 

stood at 240 points, 27.7% lower than at the end of 2010. 

Volkswagen AG’s preferred shares and ordinary shares 

were unable to buck the negative performance of the 

market as a whole in the third quarter of 2011. Share 

prices initially rose sharply until mid-July on the back of 

reports of encouraging growth in Group deliveries. However, 

over the remainder of the quarter they became caught up 

in the downward spiral of the markets and also fell signif-

icantly. Towards the end of the reporting period, Volkswagen 

shares recorded pronounced fluctuations in a volatile market 

environment. 

Volkswagen's preferred shares recorded their highest 

daily closing price for the reporting period (€151.00) on 

July 15, 2011. At their low on the last trading day of the 

third quarter of 2011, the shares traded at €100.05, down 

17.6% compared with year-end 2010. Volkswagen AG’s 

ordinary shares also reached their peak daily closing price 

for the reporting period of €136.95 on July 15, 2011. They 

fell to their lowest daily closing price, €91.00, on Septem-

ber 26, 2011. On September 30, 2011, Volkswagen AG's 

ordinary shares closed at €93.19, 12.0% lower than on 

December 31, 2010. Volkswagen has been included in the 

DJ Euro STOXX 50 again since September 19, 2011, when its 

preferred shares were admitted to the index. 

Information and explanations on earnings per share 

can be found in the notes to the consolidated interim 

financial statements. Additional Volkswagen share data, 

plus corporate news, reports and presentations can be 

downloaded from our website at www.volkswagenag.com/ir. 

 

 

SHARE PRICE DEVELOPMENT FROM DECEMBER 2010 TO SEPTEMBER 2011 

Index based on month- end pr ices:  December 31,  2010 = 100 
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GEN ERAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

The global economy continued to grow between January 

and September 2011, albeit at a reduced pace from the 

second quarter onwards. Economic growth was dampened 

primarily by the effects of the sovereign debt crises in parts 

of Europe and the ongoing tensions in North Africa and 

the Middle East. While growth in the emerging markets 

remained strong, expansion in the industrialized countries 

was subdued. 

The economic recovery in Western Europe slowed during 

the reporting period. In particular, the economic climate 

was impacted by the slowdown in the global economy and 

the mounting sovereign debt crises in several European 

countries. Economic growth in Central and Eastern Europe 

has also slowed in recent months. 

Following the sharp upturn in the first quarter of 2011, 

the German economy ground to a virtual halt. In recent 

months, however, growth has picked up again slightly, with 

domestic demand becoming more significant. The labor 

market continued to develop positively. 

The economy in South Africa weakened from the second 

quarter of 2011 onwards. 

Despite ongoing extremely low interest rates, economic 

growth in the USA has fallen noticeably in the year to date. 

High energy prices and the weak labor and real estate 

markets have had a clear impact on growth. Growth momen-

tum in Mexico has shifted from external to domestic demand 

in line with the decline in growth in the United States. 

Economic growth in both Brazil and Argentina has 

slowed in the course of the year, although substantial 

inflationary pressure in the two countries has continued. 

In China and India, economic growth remained dynamic 

in the third quarter of 2011. In recent months, the Japanese 

economy has recovered faster than expected from the 

natural disasters suffered in March. 

 

 

EXCHANGE RATE MOVEMENTS FROM DECEMBER 2010 TO SEPTEMBER 2011 

Index based on month- end pr ices:  December 31,  2010 = 100 
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Business Development Results of Operations, Financial Position and Net Assets Outlook  

MANAGEMENT REPORT 

DEVELOPMENT OF AUTOMOTIVE M ARKETS 

Global demand for passenger cars was up year-on-year in 

the period from January to September 2011, although 

growth has slowed somewhat in the course of the year. 

New passenger car registrations increased in all sales 

regions with the exception of Western Europe. The highest 

absolute growth compared with the previous year was in 

the Chinese, US and Russian markets. 

In the first nine months of 2011, the number of new 

registrations in Western Europe fell just short of the prior-

year figure, which had been supported by government 

economic stimulus programs. In the third quarter of 2011, 

however, passenger car demand in the Western European 

markets resumed a slightly positive trend overall. 

Passenger car sales in Central and Eastern Europe 

rose faster than average in the reporting period. The 

dynamic growth was attributable in particular to the booming 

Russian automotive market, which benefited from a govern-

ment support program and increased consumer confidence. 

The German passenger car market continued to recover 

in the first three quarters of 2011, recording a double-

digit increase over the very low prior-year figure. The rise 

in new registrations was driven entirely by the higher 

demand for diesel cars. 

The upward trend in passenger car sales in South Africa 

continued in the period from January to September 2011. 

Demand has increased year-on-year for 21 months in a 

row and was positively impacted primarily by higher unit 

sales to car rental companies. 

New registrations in the North American vehicle market 

rose sharply in the first nine months of 2011, although the 

pace of growth weakened slightly in the third quarter. In 

the USA, strong demand for fuel-efficient models in 

particular led to a higher overall market volume compared 

with the previous year. More vehicles were also sold in 

Canada and Mexico, with the Mexican market recording a 

double-digit rate of increase. 

New passenger car registrations in South America rose 

sharply between January and September 2011 to a new 

record level. In Brazil, growth was driven in particular by 

imported vehicles, which benefited from the strong exchange 

rate of the Brazilian real. In Argentina, the second-largest 

passenger car market in South America, demand likewise 

rose to a new high in the first nine months of 2011. 

The pace of growth in the Asia-Pacific region slowed in 

the reporting period. The Chinese passenger car market 

continued to expand despite the withdrawal of govern-

ment incentives, although not as strongly as in previous 

years. In Japan, new passenger car registrations dropped 

dramatically as a result of the natural disasters. In addition, 

the country's market had profited from tax breaks and 

scrapping premiums in the prior-year period. Demand in 

the Indian passenger car market declined in the third quarter 

of 2011, due primarily to further increases in consumer 

prices and a deterioration in financing conditions, but 

increased sharply over the reporting period as a whole. 

 

DEMAN D FOR HEAVY TRUC KS 

From January to September 2011, global demand for heavy 

trucks with a gross weight of more than 15 tonnes devel-

oped positively year-on-year. 

In Western Europe, the trend seen in the first six 

months of this year continued. New heavy truck registrations 

benefited from replacement purchases in the course of the 

economic recovery, increasing markedly year-on-year in 

the period from January to September 2011. 

Russia recorded a sharp increase compared with the 

previous year, continuing its recovery following heavy 

declines during the financial crisis. 

The USA and the other NAFTA countries experienced 

significant market growth due to the positive trend in the 

economic sectors concerned. 

The overall trend in the South American market was 

extremely positive in the period from January to Septem-

ber 2011. Brazil, the largest market in South America, 

exceeded its prior-year figures significantly. 

In the same period, demand for heavy trucks in China 

slowed as against the very high prior-year level, as expected. 

Nevertheless, China remains by far the world's largest 

market.  

By contrast, India clearly exceeded its high prior-year 

figures. 

 

DEMAN D FOR FI NANCIAL SERVICES 

The markets for automotive financial services continued 

to record strong demand in the first nine months of 2011. 

The European markets experienced higher demand for 

automotive financial services from business customers in 

particular. The leasing sector in Germany continued to 

expand in both the commercial vehicle and passenger car 

segments. Growth in the markets in North and South 

America as well as the Asia-Pacific region was also 

significantly higher year-on-year in the reporting period. 
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VEHICLE DELIVERI ES WORLDWI DE 

Between January and September 2011, the Volkswagen 

Group increased deliveries to customers worldwide by 

14.1% year-on-year, delivering 6,169,969 vehicles. The 

global automotive market recorded slower growth in the 

same period (+5.6%), so we expanded our market position 

and gained additional market shares. Virtually all Group 

brands contributed to this increase. In particular, the Audi 

(+17.4%), ŠKODA (+16.8%), Bentley (+30.5%) and Volks-

wagen Commercial Vehicles (+25.5%) brands recorded 

impressive growth rates in this period. For the first time, 

the Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand delivered over  

3.8 million vehicles to customers (+12.3%) between January 

and September. From a regional perspective, Group sales 

increased most in Central and Eastern Europe, North 

America and the Asia-Pacific region. 

The table on this page gives an overview of deliveries to 

customers by market and of the respective passenger car 

market shares in the reporting period. 

 

 

DELIVERI ES TO CUSTOMERS BY MAR KET FROM JAN UARY TO SEPTEMBER 1  

     

 

  

D E L I V E R I E S  ( U N I T S )  C H A N G E  

S H A R E  O F  PA S S E N G E R  C A R  

M A R K E T  ( % )  

   2011 2010 (%) 2011 2010 
    
    

 Europe/Remaining markets 3,045,201 2,715,096 + 12.2     

 Western Europe 2,404,094 2,213,748 + 8.6 22.9 21.0 

 of which: Germany 867,837 772,508 + 12.3 36.1 35.4 

 United Kingdom 330,701 306,760 + 7.8 19.4 17.1 

 France 228,726 200,774 + 13.9 12.6 11.1 

 Italy 191,381 185,566 + 3.1 13.0 11.4 

 Spain 166,674 200,323  – 16.8 24.8 24.3 

 Central and Eastern Europe 398,970 307,661 + 29.7 13.4 13.7 

 of which: Russia 161,085 93,384 + 72.5 8.3 7.2 

 Czech Republic 61,684 61,871  – 0.3 45.7 46.7 

 Poland 53,788 57,298  – 6.1 22.1 22.5 

 Remaining markets 242,137 193,687 + 25.0     

 of which: Turkey 80,548 58,247 + 38.3 14.1 13.4 

 South Africa 75,742 54,987 + 37.7 23.1 20.6  

 North America2 485,826 400,078 + 21.4 4.2 3.8  

 of which: USA 322,028 267,520 + 20.4 3.4 3.1 

 Mexico 110,067 87,821 + 25.3 17.4 15.5 

 Canada 53,731 44,737 + 20.1 4.4 3.7 

 South America 715,753 654,309 + 9.4 19.0 19.8 

 of which: Brazil 541,679 524,626 + 3.3 22.5 22.8 

 Argentina 135,064 99,429 + 35.8 24.6 24.0 

 Asia-Pacific 1,923,189 1,638,765 + 17.4 11.4 10.0 

 of which: China 1,692,351 1,477,013 + 14.6 18.8 18.3 

 India 81,425 32,481 x 4.7 2.0 

 Japan 53,221 51,871 + 2.6 2.1 1.5 

 Worldwide 6,169,969 5,408,248 + 14.1 12.4 11.6 

 Volkswagen Passenger Cars 3,810,407 3,392,169 + 12.3     

 Audi 973,211 829,281 + 17.4     

 ŠKODA 664,773 568,990 + 16.8     

 SEAT 266,819 258,894 + 3.1     

 Bentley 4,763 3,651 + 30.5     

 Lamborghini 1,082 1,002 + 8.0     

 Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles 389,904 310,684 + 25.5     

 Scania 58,985 43,549 + 35.4     

 Bugatti 25 28  – 10.7     
    

1 Deliveries and market shares for 2010 have been updated to reflect subsequent statistical trends. 

2 Overall markets in the USA, Mexico and Canada include passenger cars and light trucks. 
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VOLKSWAGEN GROU P DELIVERI ES BY MONTH 
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Sales trends in the individual markets are as follows. 

 

DELIVERI ES I N EU ROPE/REM AI N I NG MARKETS 

The Volkswagen Group sold 8.6% more vehicles in Western 

Europe during the reporting period than in the previous 

year, significantly outperforming the overall market in the 

same period (–1.1%). Measured in terms of the Group’s 

delivery volume, the proportion of vehicles sold in Western 

Europe amounted to 39.0% (previous year: 40.9%). We 

improved on our sales figures in virtually all major markets 

in this region, apart from the sharply declining Spanish 

passenger car market. All the Group’s volume brands 

improved on the prior-year figures. The most popular 

models in the first nine months of 2011 were the Touran, 

Tiguan, Passat Variant, Audi Q7, ŠKODA Fabia Estate, 

ŠKODA Yeti and Caddy. Our new Jetta, Sharan, Audi A1, 

Audi A7 Sportback and SEAT Alhambra models also met 

with stronger demand. The Volkswagen Group’s share of 

the passenger car market in Western Europe increased to 

22.9% (previous year: 21.0%). 

Demand for Volkswagen Group models in Germany 

continued to increase in the third quarter of 2011. 

Between January and September, we sold 12.3% more 

vehicles than in the prior-year period, which was adversely 

affected by the end of the government scrapping premium. 

The Touran, Tiguan, Passat saloon, Passat Variant, Audi 

Q5, Audi TT, ŠKODA Fabia hatchback, ŠKODA Yeti, ŠKODA 

Roomster, SEAT Altea and Caddy models recorded the 

highest growth rates. At the end of the reporting period, 

six Volkswagen Group models led the Kraftfahrtbundes-

amt (KBA - German Federal Motor Transport Authority) 

registration statistics in their respective segments: the 

Polo, Golf, Passat, Touran, Tiguan and Caddy. The Golf 

remained the undisputed leader among newly registered 

vehicles in the German passenger car market, with the 

Passat and the Polo coming in second and third place. 

After the first nine months of 2011, the Volkswagen Group’s 

share of the passenger car market in Germany rose to 36.1% 

(previous year: 35.4%). 

Between January and September 2011, the Volkswagen 

Group delivered 29.7% more vehicles to customers in 

Central and Eastern Europe than in the same period in 

2010. The main reason behind this was the continuing 

high demand for Group models in Russia (+72.5 %). We 

sold more vehicles than in the previous year in the remaining 

relevant markets of Central and Eastern Europe – with the 

exception of Poland and the Czech Republic. There was 

particularly strong demand for almost all Volkswagen 

Passenger Cars brand models, as well as the Audi A4, Audi 

Q5, all ŠKODA brand models, the SEAT Altea, Multivan/ 

Transporter and Caddy. 

In South Africa, demand for Volkswagen Group models 

remained high in the local passenger car market in the 

reporting period. We delivered 37.7% more vehicles to 

customers there than last year, and the Group’s share of 

the passenger car market in South Africa increased to 

23.1% (previous year: 20.6%). 
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DELIVERI ES I N NORTH AMERICA 

In the period from January to September 2011, Volks-

wagen Group sales in the US passenger car market increased 

by 20.4% compared with the previous year. Models that 

were very popular among customers included the Golf, 

Golf Variant, Tiguan, Passat CC, Audi Q5, Audi Q7 and 

Audi A8 models, and above all the new Jetta. 

In the reporting period, we delivered 20.1% more 

vehicles to customers in the Canadian passenger car market 

than in the previous year. The highest growth rates were 

recorded for the Touareg, Audi A4 and Audi Q5 models. 

The new Jetta also saw strong demand in Canada. The 

Volkswagen Group sold 25.3% more vehicles year-on-year 

in Mexico and thus outperformed the positive trend in the 

local passenger car market. The new Jetta and the SEAT 

Ibiza contributed decisively to this success. 

 

DELIVERI ES I N SOUTH AMERICA 

In the first nine months of 2011, the Volkswagen Group 

delivered 9.4% more vehicles to customers in South 

America than in the same period in the previous year. Our 

sales in the Brazilian passenger car market in the 

reporting period were up 3.3% year-on-year, although the 

growth rate was markedly weaker in the third quarter. 

Demand for the Gol and Voyage models was particularly 

strong. The total delivery figures also include the Amarok, 

Saveiro and T2 light commercial vehicles. We sold 19.1% 

more of these models in Brazil than in the previous year. 

The passenger car market share held by the Volkswagen 

Group in Brazil remained virtually unchanged at 22.5% 

(previous year: 22.8%). 

The Volkswagen Group slightly outperformed the 

dynamic growth of the overall Argentinian market and 

increased its deliveries to customers between January and 

September 2011 by 35.8% year-on-year. The Gol, Voyage 

and Bora models recorded the strongest demand. As a 

result, the Volkswagen Group’s share of the market for 

passenger cars in Argentina increased to 24.6% (previous 

year: 24.0%). 

 

DELIVERI ES I N TH E ASIA-PACI FIC REGION 

Growth in the passenger car markets in the Asia-Pacific 

region slowed further in the third quarter of 2011 (+2.4%).

The Volkswagen Group clearly outperformed the overall 

market, delivering 17.4% more vehicles to customers in this 

region in the reporting period than in the previous year. 

This performance was primarily driven by the ongoing high 

demand for Group models in the Chinese passenger car 

market, where we sold 14.6% more vehicles than in the 

prior year. Virtually all models experienced stronger 

demand than in the same period in 2010. We maintained 

the Volkswagen Group’s leadership position in the highly 

competitive Chinese passenger car market, with a market 

share of 18.8% (previous year: 18.3%). In Japan, our 

deliveries to customers increased by 2.6% in the first nine 

months of 2011 compared with the previous year. There 

was increased demand here for the Touran, Passat Variant 

and Audi Q7 models. 

From January to September 2011, the Volkswagen 

Group also delivered more vehicles to customers in the 

remaining markets of the Asia-Pacific region than in the 

previous year. In India, sales of passenger cars more than 

doubled. Demand was particularly strong for the Polo 

hatchback and Polo notchback models. 

 

DELIVERI ES OF HEAVY COMMERC IAL VEHIC LES 

The Scania brand delivered 58,985 units worldwide 

between January and September 2011, an increase of 35.4% 

compared with the same period in 2010. Demand in 

Europe rose by 63.5% to a total of 29,158 vehicles, mainly 

due to sales in Central and Eastern Europe. Scania’s unit 

sales also increased in the markets of South America and 

the Asia-Pacific region.  

 

GROU P FI NANCIAL SERVICES 

Products and services from Volkswagen Financial Services 

continued to enjoy strong demand in the reporting period. 

From January to September 2011, 2.3 million new financing, 

leasing and insurance contracts were signed worldwide, a 

16.5% increase on the previous year. The total number of 

contracts as of September 30, 2011 was 8.1 million, up 

8.3% on the prior-year period.  

A total of 1.7 million new contracts were signed in 

Europe (+16.8%) between January and September 2011. 

The total number of contracts there rose by 9.4% to 

6.1 million. 
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WORLDWI DE DEVELOPMENT OF I NVENTORI ES 

At the end of September 2011, global inventories held by 

Group companies and the dealer organization were up 

compared with the end of 2010 and as against Septem-

ber 30, 2010. 

 

U N IT SALES,  PRODUCTION AN D EMPLOYEES 

In the period from January to September 2011, the Volks-

wagen Group sold 6,199,840 vehicles to the dealer organi-

zation worldwide. This corresponds to an increase of 16.0% 

compared with the prior-year figure. The number of vehicles 

sold abroad increased to 16.5%, mainly due to the high 

demand in the Chinese passenger car market compared 

with the previous year. Domestic sales were up 13.3% on 

the previous year, which was adversely affected by the end 

of the government scrapping premium. Vehicles sold in 

Germany accounted for 14.5% (previous year: 14.9%) of 

the Group’s overall sales. 

The Volkswagen Group produced 6,301,072 vehicles in 

the reporting period, 17.8% more than in the prior-year 

period. 13.4% more models were manufactured in Germany; 

the proportion of domestically produced vehicles declined 

to 28.2% (previous year: 29.3%). 

The Volkswagen Group had 432,604 active employees 

worldwide as of September 30, 2011. 4,011 employees 

were in the passive phase of their early retirement and 

12,053 young people were in apprenticeships. The Volks-

wagen Group employed 448,668 people worldwide at the 

end of the reporting period, which corresponds to an 

increase of 12.3% compared with December 31, 2010. 

Besides the development of new production facilities and 

the expanded production volume in Germany and abroad, 

this increase can be attributed primarily to the acquisition 

of the trading business of Porsche Holding Salzburg on 

March 1, 2011. 191,615 people were employed in Germany 

(+5.7%), accounting for 42.7% of the total headcount. 

 

OPPORTU N ITY AN D RISK REPORT 

There were no significant changes to the opportunity 

position of the Volkswagen Group compared with the 

information contained in the Report on Expected Develop-

ments in the 2010 Annual Report. The natural disasters in 

Japan and their potential consequences can now be 

assessed with a greater degree of certainty. We therefore 

believe that the overall impact of these events will remain 

limited, although specific effects cannot be ruled out.  

ARFB Anlegerschutz UG (a limited liability undertaking), 

Berlin, has brought an action against Porsche Automobil 

Holding SE, Stuttgart, and Volkswagen AG for damages 

allegedly assigned to it in the amount of approximately 

€1.1 billion. These claims are supposedly based on alleged 

breaches by the defendants of capital market legislation in 

connection with Porsche’s acquisition of Volkswagen 

shares in 2008. Volkswagen considers the action to be 

unjustified and has rejected the claims. 

 

 

 

CONSUMPTION AN D EMISSION DATA 

In accordance with Pkw-EnVKV (German Passenger  Car  Fuel  Consumption and CO 2  Emiss ions  Information Regulation) 

     

  O U T P U T   

k W  ( P S )  

F U E L  C O N S U M P T I O N  

( l / 1 0 0 k m )  

CO 2 - EM I S S IO N S

( g / k m )  

 M O D E L  
urban extra-urban combined combined 

 Bentley Continental GTC 423 (575) 25.4 11.4 16.5 384 

 

Lamborghini Gallardo LP 570-4  

Super Trofeo Stradale 419 (570) 20.4 9.4 13.5 319 

 Volkswagen Multivan BlueMotion 84 (115) 7.6 5.7 6.4 169 

 Volkswagen Polo BlueMotion 55 (75) 4.0 2.9 3.3 87 
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Volkswagen acquired Porsche Holding Salzburg’s operating 

business for €3.3 billion as of March 1, 2011. The trading 

business is included in the Automotive Division’s results 

from March 2011. Porsche Holding Salzburg’s financial 

services business is reflected in the figures for the Financial 

Services Division.  

On May 9, 2011, Volkswagen AG increased its stake in 

MAN SE to 30.47% of its ordinary shares. The future acqui-

sition of additional shares resulting from the mandatory 

offer is expected to lead to a further cash outflow in the 

coming weeks; this purchase still requires the approval of 

the Chinese antitrust authorities. 

 

VOLKSWAGEN GROU P SALES REVEN U E 

The Volkswagen Group generated sales revenue of €116.3 

billion in the period January to September 2011, a year-

on-year increase of 25.6% that was due mainly to volume-

related factors. Sales revenue in the Automotive Division 

increased by 25.9% to €103.5 billion. In addition to 

increased volumes, key factors having a positive impact 

were model and country mix improvements and the initial 

consolidation of subsidiaries, in particular of Porsche 

Holding Salzburg. As our Chinese joint ventures are 

accounted for using the equity method, the Group’s positive 

business growth in the Chinese passenger car market is 

mainly reflected in the Group’s sales revenue only by 

deliveries of vehicle parts. At €12.7 billion, sales revenue 

in the Financial Services Division was up 23.4% year-on-

year in the reporting period. The proportion of the 

Group’s sales revenue generated outside Germany was 

78.0% (77.7%).  

 

EARN I NGS DEVELOPMENT 

The Volkswagen Group’s gross profit in the first nine 

months of 2011 improved by 36.5% year-on-year to €21.4 

billion. This increase is due mainly to higher volumes and 

lower product costs. The gross margin was 18.4% (17.0%). 

Gross profit in the Automotive Division rose by €5.3 billion  

year-on-year to €18.6 billion. The Financial Services 

Division’s gross profit rose by 16.2% to €2.8 billion. 

The Group’s distribution expenses rose by 15.8% year-

on-year in the reporting period due to the stronger business 

performance. However, the ratio of distribution expenses 

to sales revenue was lower than in 2010. The initial consoli-

dation of companies and higher banking supervisory 

requirements saw an increase in administrative expenses, 

although the ratio of administrative expenses to sales 

revenue remained stable. At €0.8 billion, the Group’s net 

other operating income grew by €0.4 billion year-on-year. 

In the period from January to September 2011, the 

Volkswagen Group recorded an operating profit of €9.0 

billion, an increase of €4.2 billion compared with the first 

nine months of 2010. The positive business performance 

of our Chinese joint ventures is not reflected in the Group’s 

operating profit, as these are accounted for using the 

equity method. 

At €7.7 billion (€0.6 billion), the financial result signif-

icantly exceeded the previous year’s figure. A slight decline 

in finance costs, the measurement of derivative financial 

instruments used for currency hedging as of the reporting 

date and improved income from equity-accounted invest-

ments included in the consolidated financial statements  

– especially the Chinese joint ventures and Porsche Zwi-

schenholding GmbH – all had a positive effect. However, 

the updated measurement of the put/call options on 

Porsche Zwischenholding GmbH in particular had a positive 

effect on earnings. The change in the carrying amount 

resulted primarily from the assessment that it will not be 

possible to implement the merger with Porsche Automobil 

Holding SE within the time frame laid down in the Compre-

hensive Agreement. The financial result was negatively 

impacted by the switch in the accounting for the Suzuki 

shares from the equity method to fair value. 

The Volkswagen Group’s profit before tax grew by 

€11.2 billion year-on-year to €16.6 billion. Profit after tax 

improved by €9.6 billion to €13.6 billion. 

Results of Operations, Financial Position and Net Assets 
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OPERATI NG PROFIT BY QUARTERS 

Volkswagen Group in € mil l ion 
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I NVESTMENTS I N PROPERTY,  PLANT AN D EQU I PMENT, AN D 

CASH FLOW I N TH E AUTOMOTIVE DIVISION 

At €4.2 billion, investments in property, plant and 

equipment in the Automotive Division rose by €0.9 billion 

year-on-year in the first three quarters of 2011. We invested 

primarily in our new production facilities, in models to be 

launched in 2011 and 2012, and in the ecological focus of 

our model range. The ratio of property, plant and equipment 

to sales revenue was 4.1% (4.0%) in the reporting period; 

this was only slightly higher than in the previous year due 

to the significant growth in sales revenue. 

The positive business development resulted in gross 

cash flow in the Automotive Division increasing by €3.1 

billion year-on-year to €12.2 billion in the first nine 

months of 2011. Working capital recorded a cash inflow of 

€0.2 billion (€2.4 billion). Cash flows from operating 

activities rose to €12.4 billion (€11.5 billion). The total 

cash outflow from investing activities attributable to 

operating activities was €8.6 billion (€6.3 billion). This 

reflected in particular the acquisition of Porsche Holding 

Salzburg, the equity interest in SGL Carbon SE and the 

increase in the stake in MAN SE to 30.47% of its ordinary 

shares, as well as payments for investments in property, 

plant and equipment, and capitalized development costs. 

This does not include the future acquisition of additional 

MAN SE shares due to the mandatory offer. Once the 

approval of the Chinese antitrust authorities has been 

granted – which was still outstanding at the reporting date – 

the resulting cash outflow of around €3.4 billion is 

expected to be recorded in the coming weeks. Due to the 

higher volume of equity investments compared with the 

previous year, the Automotive Division’s net cash flow 

declined by €1.4 billion year-on-year to €3.8 billion. 

 

N ET LIQU I DITY 

At September 30, 2011, the Automotive Division’s net 

liquidity was €21.2 billion, €2.5 billion higher than at 

year-end 2010. 

The Financial Services Division’s negative net liquidity, 

which is common in the industry, widened to €–75.4 

billion (€–68.0 billion). This is attributable in particular to 

the expansion of business and the inclusion of Porsche 

Holding Salzburg’s financial services business.  

The Volkswagen Group’s net liquidity amounted to  

€–54.2 billion at the end of September 2011, €4.9 billion 

lower than on December 31, 2010. 
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AUTOMOTIVE DIVISION BAL ANCE SH EET STRUCTU RE 

The consolidation of Porsche Holding Salzburg primarily 

led to an increase in inventories and debt. In view of the 

size of Porsche Holding Salzburg, determining the fair 

values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires 

a detailed examination; the figures are provisional as of 

the date of these interim financial statements. 

At September 30, 2011, noncurrent assets in the Auto-

motive Division were 14.9% higher than at the end of 

2010. The increase is due mainly to the acquisition of 

Porsche Holding Salzburg and the remeasurement of the 

options on Porsche Zwischenholding GmbH. The carrying 

amount of property, plant and equipment rose by 4.7%. 

Current assets were 20.1% higher than at December 31, 

2010. Within the current assets item, the increase in 

business led to a rise in inventories and receivables. The 

positive business development in the reporting period 

meant that the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were 

higher than at the end of 2010, despite the acquisition of 

Porsche Holding Salzburg and the dividend payment. 

The Automotive Division’s equity attributable to share-

holders of Volkswagen AG amounted to €47.1 billion at the 

end of the third quarter of 2011; this represents an 

increase of €10.1 billion as against December 31, 2010. In 

particular, the good earnings growth had a positive effect 

here. This was offset in part by the dividend payment and 

currency translation differences. Including noncontrolling 

interests, which chiefly relate to noncontrolling interests 

in Scania, total equity amounted to €49.6 billion at the end 

of the reporting period (€39.5 billion). Noncurrent liabilities 

were 1.6% higher than at December 31, 2010. Current 

assets were up 28.5% due to the expansion of business. 

The figures for the Automotive Division also contain the 

elimination of intra-Group transactions between the 

Automotive and Financial Services divisions. As the current 

financial liabilities for the primary Automotive Division 

were lower than the loans granted to the Financial Services 

Division, a negative amount was disclosed for the reporting 

period. 

At €130.7 billion, the Automotive Division’s total assets 

were up by 17.2% compared with December 31, 2010. 

 

FI NANCIAL SERVICES DIVISION BAL ANCE SH EET STRUCTU RE 

The consolidation of Porsche Holding Salzburg’s financial 

services business led in particular to an increase in 

financial services receivables and debt at the Financial 

Services Division. At €98.1 billion, the Financial Services 

Division’s total assets as of September 30, 2011 were 11.7% 

higher than at December 31, 2010. 

Noncurrent assets increased by 10.7%. Within the 

noncurrent assets item, financial services receivables in 

particular grew due to business expansion and the inclusion 

of Porsche Holding Salzburg. Current assets increased by 

13.0% compared with December 31, 2010; this is primarily 

attributable to higher receivables and cash and cash equiv-

alents as a result of volume-related factors. The Financial 

Services Division accounted for approximately 43% of the 

Volkswagen Group’s assets as of September 30, 2011. 

At the end of the reporting period, the Financial Services 

Division’s equity amounted to €10.6 billion, exceeding the 

December 31, 2010 figure by 16.1%. This increase was 

due in particular to the earnings position and a capital 

increase by Volkswagen AG. Noncurrent liabilities were 

26.3% higher than at year-end 2010 due to an increase in 

financial liabilities. Current liabilities were up 1.1% 

compared with the end of 2010. 

Deposits at Volkswagen Bank direct amounted to €20.6 

billion (€18.9 billion) on September 30, 2011. 
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The global economy continued to grow in the period from 

January to September 2011. We expect this trend to 

continue in the fourth quarter of the year, albeit at a 

slower pace. We still see the greatest potential in the 

emerging markets of Asia and Latin America, whereas the 

industrialized nations will continue their moderate 

growth. However, the strained debt situation of many 

countries, the continuing debate about the stability of the 

European monetary system, and an increase in inflationary 

trends are dampening economic prospects.  

The pace of growth in the global automotive markets 

slowed somewhat in the third quarter of 2011. Although 

overall the figures for January to September were above 

those for the previous year, the individual markets turned 

in a mixed performance. Germany and France were the 

only key Western European markets to exceed their prior-

year figures, while in Central and Eastern Europe Poland 

and Romania did not match their 2010 volumes. Sales 

figures increased in the markets of North and South 

America as well as in the Asia-Pacific region, with the 

exception of Japan. 

We expect trends in the global automotive markets to 

remain mixed in the final months of 2011. The strained 

debt situation in certain eurozone countries and the end 

of subsidy programs will have a negative impact on 

demand for new vehicles in many Western European 

countries. By contrast, we expect an increase in vehicle 

sales in Central and Eastern Europe. The positive trends 

will continue in the strategically important markets of 

China and India, and we also expect new vehicle 

registrations to rise in the markets of North and South 

America. Overall, global demand for passenger cars in 

2011 is expected to exceed the level for 2010.  

The Volkswagen Group’s key competitive advantages 

are its unique brand portfolio and its continually growing 

presence in all key regions of the world. Thanks to our 

expertise in technology and design, we have a diverse, 

attractive and environmentally friendly range of products 

that meets all customer desires and needs. In addition, the 

modular toolkit system, which we are continually optimiz-

ing, will have an increasingly positive effect on the Group’s 

cost structure. The Volkswagen Group’s brands will continue 

to launch fascinating new models in the remaining months 

of 2011, thus further expanding our strong position in the 

global markets. We are therefore expecting our full-year 

deliveries to customers to increase as against the previous 

year. 

We expect the Group’s sales revenue and operating 

profit in 2011 to be significantly higher than the previous 

year. However, the continuing volatility in interest and 

exchange rates and commodities prices will weaken the 

positive volume effect. Disciplined cost and investment 

management and the continuous optimization of our 

processes remain core components of our “Strategy 2018”. 

 

 

 

 

 

Outlook 

This report contains forward-looking statements on the business development of 

the Volkswagen Group. These statements are based on assumptions relating to 

the development of the economic and legal environment in individual countries 

and economic regions, and in particular for the automotive industry, which we 

have made on the basis of the information available to us and which we consider 

to be realistic at the time of going to press. The estimates given entail a degree of 

risk, and the actual developments may differ from those forecast. Consequently, 

any unexpected fall in demand or economic stagnation in our key sales markets, 

such as Western Europe (and especially Germany) or in the USA, Brazil, China, or 

Russia will have a corresponding impact on the development of our business. 

The same applies in the event of a significant shift in current exchange rates 

relative in particular to the US dollar, sterling, Czech koruna, Swedish krona, 

Russian ruble, Australian dollar, Polish zloty, Swiss franc, Mexican peso and 

Japanese yen. In addition, expected business development may vary if the 

assessments of value-enhancing factors and risks presented in the 2010 Annual 

Report develop in a way other than we are currently expecting, or additional risks 

or other factors emerge that adversely affect the development of our business. 
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SALES REVEN U E AN D OPERATI NG PROFIT BY B RAN D AN D 
BUSI N ESS FI ELD 

The Volkswagen Group’s sales revenue for the period from 

January to September 2011 was up 25.6% year-on-year to 

€116.3 billion due mainly to volume-related factors. At €9.0 

billion, operating profit exceeded the prior-year figure by 

€4.2 billion. 

The Volkswagen Passenger Cars brand sold 3.3 million 

vehicles in the first nine months of 2011, outstripping the 

prior-year figure by 16.7%. Demand for the Polo, Golf, 

Tiguan, Touareg, Jetta, Passat Variant, Touran and Sharan 

models was particularly strong. Sales revenue rose by 

19.9% to €70.7 billion due to volume-related factors. 

Operating profit improved by €1.7 billion to €3.3 billion. 

In addition to the increase in unit sales, mix improvements 

also had a positive effect on profit. 

Unit sales by the Audi brand were up 17.8% on the 

first nine months of 2010 to 1.1 million vehicles in the 

reporting period. The Audi Q5 and Audi Q7 models recorded 

the highest growth rates. Growth in demand for the new 

Audi A1, Audi A7 Sportback and Audi A8 models was also 

extremely positive. Sales revenue was up 24.6% on the 

same period of 2010 to €32.4 billion. In addition to the 

higher volumes, this was also attributable to mix improve-

ments. Process and cost optimization helped to lift operating 

profit by €1.7 billion to €4.0 billion. The figures for the 

Lamborghini brand are already included in the key figures 

for the Audi brand. 

The ŠKODA brand sold 511 thousand vehicles in the 

period from January to September 2011, exceeding the 

prior-year figure by 19.9%. All the brand’s model ranges 

contributed to this growth. At €7.6 billion, sales revenue 

was 21.2% higher than in the previous year. Operating 

profit rose by €261 million to €575 million due to volume-

related factors and mix effects. 

In the Spanish passenger car market, demand for vehi-

cles was much lower in the reporting period than in the 

previous year. Nevertheless, unit sales by the SEAT brand 

were up slightly on the same period of 2010 (+2.7%) to 

267 thousand vehicles worldwide. The new Ibiza ST and 

Alhambra models were increasingly popular. Sales revenue 

rose by 6.1% to €4.0 billion. The operating loss narrowed 

by €117 million to €101 million due to an improvement in 

the sales performance and optimized materials costs, 

among other things. 

 

 

 

VOLKSWAGEN GROU P 
       

Division  A U T O M O T I V E  D I V I S I O N  F I N A N C I A L  S E R V I C E S       
    

 

Brand/Business 

Field 

Volkswagen 

Passenger 

Cars 

Audi ŠKODA SEAT Bentley Volkswagen 

Commercial 

Vehicles 

Scania Other Dealer and customer 

financing 

Leasing 

Directbank 

Insurance 

Fleet business 

     

 

Brands and Business Fields 
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The Bentley brand sold 51.2% more vehicles in the first 

three quarters of 2011 than it did in the prior-year period. 

At €776 million, sales revenue was 54.2% higher than in 

2010. The operating loss declined sharply year-on-year to 

€6 million (€145 million). Earnings were impacted by upfront 

expenditures for new products and exchange rate effects. 

Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles recorded unit sales 

of 328 thousand vehicles in the reporting period, 32.4% 

more than in the previous year. All model ranges contributed 

to this success. Sales revenue improved by 23.7% to €6.7 

billion. Operating profit was up by €186 million year-on-

year to €328 billion, due mainly to higher volumes. 

The Scania brand sold 59 thousand vehicles in the period 

from January to September of this year, 35.4% more than 

in the prior-year period. Demand increased sharply in 

Europe in particular as well as in the Asia-Pacific and 

Middle East markets. Sales revenue rose by 24.4% to €7.4 

billion. Operating profit was €132 million higher than in 

the first three quarters of 2010 at €1.1 billion. 

Volkswagen Financial Services generated an operating 

profit of €876 million in the reporting period, exceeding 

the prior-year figure by €191 million. 

 

 

 

KEY FIGU RES BY BRAN D AN D BUSI N ESS F I ELD FROM JAN UARY 1 TO SEPTEMBER 30 1  
      
       S A L E S  T O     

   V E H I C L E  S A L E S  S A L E S  R E V E N U E  T H I R D  PA R T I E S  O P E R AT I N G  R E S U LT  

 thousand vehicles/€ million 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 
 
 

 Volkswagen Passenger Cars 3,317 2,843 70,651 58,930 53,966 46,140 3,256 1,554 

 Audi 1,140 968 32,394 25,998 22,294 18,157 3,960 2,271 

 ŠKODA 511 426 7,629 6,294 4,630 4,163 575 314 

 SEAT 267 260 3,958 3,732 2,551 2,697 – 101 – 218 

 Bentley 5 3 776 503 732 481 – 6 – 145 

 

Volkswagen Commercial 

Vehicles 328 248 6,653 5,378 3,939 3,531 328 142 

 Scania2 59 44 7,421 5,966 7,421 5,966 1,071 938 

 VW China3 1,619 1,360             

 Other4 – 1,046 – 806 – 24,933 – 24,216 9,944 2,060 – 9825 – 7145

 Volkswagen Financial Services     11,730 9,963 10,804 9,352 876 684 

 Volkswagen Group 6,200 5,345 116,279 92,547 116,279 92,547 8,977 4,826 

 of which: Automotive Division 6,200 5,345 103,550 82,230 104,531 82,841 8,032 4,131 

 

Financial Services 

Division – – 12,729 10,317 11,748 9,706 945 695 
     

1 All figures shown are rounded, so minor discrepancies may arise from addition of these amounts. 

2 Vehicles & Services and Financial Services. 

3 The sales revenue and operating profit of the joint venture companies in China are not included in the figures for the Group. The Chinese companies are accounted 

for using the equity method and recorded an operating profit (proportionate) of €1,908 million (€1,354 million). The prior-year figures were adjusted. 

4 Including Porsche Holding Salzburg from March 1, 2011. 

5 Mainly intragroup items recognized in profit or loss, in particular from the elimination of intercompany profits; the figure includes depreciation and amortization of 

identifiable assets as part of the purchase price allocation for Scania and Porsche Holding Salzburg. 
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U N IT SALES AN D SALES REVEN U E BY MARKET 

In the passenger car markets in the Europe/Remaining 

markets region, the Volkswagen Group sold a total of 3.1 

million vehicles in the first nine months of 2011, an increase 

of 13.3% compared with the previous year. Sales revenue 

improved by 25.3% to €76.6 billion. 

In North America, the Group’s unit sales increased by 

21.0% to 482 thousand vehicles, meaning that we recorded 

a faster pace of growth than the North American market as 

a whole. Sales revenue was €1.4 billion higher than in 

2010 at €12.6 billion due to volume-related factors. Exchange 

rates had a negative impact on the result. 

In the passenger car markets in South America, the Volks-

wagen Group’s unit sales increased by 6.3% to a total of 707 

thousand vehicles. The higher volume and exchange rate 

effects lifted sales revenue by €1.1 billion to €10.9 billion.  

In the Asia-Pacific region, including the Group’s Chinese 

joint ventures, we sold a total of 2.0 million vehicles in the 

reporting period, exceeding the prior-year figure by 23.4%. 

Sales revenue was up by 55.2% year-on-year to €16.2 

billion. This figure does not include the sales revenue of 

our Chinese joint ventures, as these are accounted for 

using the equity method. 

 

 

KEY FIGU RES BY MARKET FROM JAN UARY 1 TO SEPTEMB ER 30 1  
    

   V E H I C L E  S A L E S  S A L E S  R E V E N U E  

 thousand vehicles/€ million 2011 2010 2011 2010 

 Europe/Remaining markets 3,052 2,695 76,570 61,104 

 North America 482 398 12,605 11,251 

 South America 707 665 10,860 9,723 

 Asia-Pacific2 1,959 1,587 16,243 10,469 

 Volkswagen Group2 6,200 5,345 116,279 92,547 
   

1 All figures shown are rounded, so minor discrepancies may arise from addition of these amounts. 

2 The sales revenue of the joint venture companies in China are not included in figures for the Group and the Asia-Pacific market. 
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VOLKSWAGEN FI NANCIAL SERVICES 

With its innovative products along the automotive value 

chain, Volkswagen Financial Services once again contrib-

uted to the Volkswagen Group’s strong sales and earnings 

performance in the third quarter of 2011. 

The International Motor Show (IAA) in Frankfurt am 

Main saw the unveiling not only of a new model in the 

form of the up!, but also of a new mobility package: the 

up!grade package. The new financing model with flexible 

features gives buyers of the up! greater financial freedom. 

With “AutoCredit²”, customers are able to choose between 

two different monthly installments. The package is comple-

mented by a new insurance product that offers comprehensive 

protection at an attractive fixed price. Customers also have 

the option of an annual inspection service. A further new 

product was specially developed for learner drivers in 

Germany: since August 2011, Volkswagen Bank direct’s 

“credit2drive” has allowed them to obtain a direct loan to 

finance their driving test. 

In the annual “AUTOHAUS BankenMonitor” survey, 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH once again took first place in the 

high-volume brands category. Trade journal AUTOHAUS 

and market research institute puls asked around 1,000 car 

dealers how satisfied they were with their cooperation 

with independent and vendor-tied automotive banks. 

Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s good terms and its product 

offerings in sales financing for new vehicles were cited as 

particular strengths. It also leads on sales force dedication 

and expertise. 

Volkswagen Leasing GmbH and Naturschutzbund 

Deutschland (NABU – Nature and Biodiversity Union) con-

tinue to cooperate successfully on environmental and climate 

protection: the 77 participants in the second “DIE GRÜNE 

FLOTTE” (THE GREEN FLEET) environmental award saved 

1,650 tonnes of CO2 and just under 630,000 liters of fuel 

this year with their roughly 9,200 vehicles. The growing 

number of participants in the environmental award is 

proof that an environmentally focused fleet strategy increas-

ingly combines ecological responsibility with economy.  

Volkswagen Leasing GmbH demonstrated its leading 

role in the European EURO ABS market with the Volks-

wagen Car Lease 14 (VCL 14) securitization transaction. 

This €854 million transaction was successfully placed with 

a broad investor base and is already the fifth benchmark 

ABS transaction this year for Volkswagen Financial 

Services AG, which was awarded the “Certified by TSI – 

DEUTSCHER VERBRIEFUNGSSTANDARD” quality label by 

True Sale International GmbH. 

A total of 2.3 million new finance, leasing, service and 

insurance contracts were signed in the reporting period, 

16.5% more than in the first nine months of 2010. The 

total number of contracts as of 30 September 2011 exceeded 

the number at the end of 2010 by 8.3%. The number of 

contracts in the Customer Financing/Leasing area was up 

4.2% on December 31, 2010 to 5.5 million and the number 

of contracts in the Service/Insurance area was 17.9% 

higher. The prior-year contract figures were adjusted to 

reflect the current definition. Leased or financed vehicles 

accounted for 35.4% (34.4%) of total Group deliveries 

worldwide based on unchanged credit eligibility criteria. 

Compared with December 31, 2010, receivables relating 

to dealer financing were 6.8% higher.  

Volkswagen Bank direct managed 1.4 million accounts 

on September 30, 2011, 3.6% more than at year-end 2010. 

Volkswagen Financial Services employed 8,183 people at 

the end of the reporting period. 

The number of contracts in our fleet management busi-

ness at the end of the first three quarters of 2011 was up 2.6% 

on year-end 2010. Our LeasePlan joint venture managed 

around 1.3 million vehicles on September 30, 2011. 
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Income Statement Statement of Comprehensive Income Balance Sheet Statement of Changes in Equity Cash Flow Statement Notes to the Financial Statements 

I NTER IM FI NANC IAL STATEMENTS (CON DENSED)

Income Statement for the Period January 1 to September 30 

     

   V O L K S WA G E N  G R O U P  D I V I S I O N S  

       A U T O M O T I V E
1

 F I N A N C I A L  S E RV I C E S  

 € million 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 
 
 

 Sales revenue 116,279 92,547 103,550 82,230 12,729 10,317 

 Cost of sales – 94,847 – 76,850 – 84,941 – 68,962 – 9,906 – 7,888 

 Gross profit 21,432 15,697 18,609 13,269 2,823 2,429 

 Distribution expenses – 10,434 – 9,009 – 9,833 – 8,468 – 602 – 541 

 Administrative expenses – 2,855 – 2,284 – 2,303 – 1,828 – 551 – 457 

 Other operating income/expense 834 423 1,559 1,158 – 725 – 735 

 Operating profit 8,977 4,826 8,032 4,131 945 695 

 

Share of profits and losses of equity-accounted 

investments 1,774 1,332 1,670 1,245 104 87 

 Other financial result 5,885 – 714 5,906 – 769 – 20 55 

 Financial result 7,660 618 7,576 477 84 141 

 Profit before tax 16,637 5,444 15,608 4,608 1,029 836 

 Income tax expense – 2,995 – 1,416 – 2,776 – 1,209 – 219 – 206 

 Profit after tax 13,642 4,029 12,832 3,398 810 630 

 Noncontrolling interests 336 251 321 247 15 4 

 Profit attributable to shareholders of Volkswagen AG 13,306 3,778 12,511 3,152 795 626 

               

 Basic earnings per ordinary share (€)
2 

28.58 8.47         

 Diluted earnings per ordinary share (€)
2
 28.58 8.47         

 Basic earnings per preferred share (€)
2
 28.64 8.53         

 Diluted earnings per preferred share (€)
2
 28.64 8.53         

     

1  Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions. 

2 Explanatory notes on earnings per share are presented in note 4. 

Interim Financial Statements (Condensed) 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income  
for the Period January 1 to September 30 

    
 € million 2011 2010 

       

 Profit after tax 13,642 4,029 

       

 Exchange differences on translating foreign operations     

 Unrealized currency translation gains/losses – 827 1,556 

 Transferred to profit or loss – – 

 Actuarial gains/losses – 275 – 2,503 

 Cash flow hedges     

 Fair value changes recognized in other comprehensive income 358 – 274 

 Transferred to profit or loss – 103 – 148 

 Available-for-sale financial assets (marketable securities)     

 Fair value changes recognized in other comprehensive income 182 24 

 Transferred to profit or loss 83 – 12 

 Deferred taxes – 12 868 

 Share of other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investments, net of tax – 263 365 

 Other comprehensive income, net of tax – 857 – 124 

       

 Total comprehensive income 12,785 3,905 

 of which attributable to     

 noncontrolling interests  215 453 

 shareholders of Volkswagen AG 12,570 3,453 
   

 

 

CHANGE I N TAX EFFECTS RELATI NG TO OTH ER COMPREH ENSIVE I NCOME 
      

 
  A M O U N T  

B E F O R E  TA X E S  TA X E S  

A M O U N T  

A F T E R  TA X E S  

A M O U N T  

B E F O R E  TA X E S  TA X E S  

A M O U N T  

A F T E R  TA X E S  

 € million     2011     2010 

 

Exchange differences on 

translating foreign 

operations – 827 – – 827 1,556 – 1,556 

 Actuarial gains/losses – 275 73 – 203 – 2,503 737 – 1,765 

 Cash flow hedges 255 – 85 170 – 422 134 – 288 

 

Available-for-sale 

financial assets 

(marketable securities) 265 1 266 13 – 4 9 

 

Equity-accounted 

investments, net of tax – 263 – – 263 365 – 365 

 

Other comprehensive 

income – 845 – 12 – 857 – 991 868 – 124 
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Income Statement Statement of Comprehensive Income Balance Sheet Statement of Changes in Equity Cash Flow Statement Notes to the Financial Statements  

I NTER IM FI NANC IAL STATEMENTS (CON DENSED)

Income Statement for the Period July 1 to September 30 

     

   V O L K S WA G E N  G R O U P  D I V I S I O N S  

       A U T O M O T I V E
1

 F I N A N C I A L  S E RV I C E S  

 € million 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 
 
 

 Sales revenue 38,512 30,738 34,214 27,221 4,298 3,517 

 Cost of sales – 31,239 – 25,004 – 27,899 – 22,287 – 3,340 – 2,717 

 Gross profit 7,273 5,734 6,315 4,934 958 800 

 Distribution expenses – 3,667 – 2,906 – 3,437 – 2,716 – 229 – 190 

 Administrative expenses – 877 – 791 – 708 – 644 – 169 – 147 

 Other operating income/expense 162 – 52 377 83 – 215 – 135 

 Operating profit 2,891 1,985 2,547 1,657 345 328 

 

Share of profits and losses of equity-accounted 

investments 533 598 500 569 33 29 

 Other financial result 4,979 237 4,997 236 – 18 1 

 Financial result 5,513 835 5,498 805 15 30 

 Profit before tax 8,404 2,820 8,044 2,462 360 358 

 Income tax expense – 1,257 – 615 – 1,166 – 525 – 92 – 90 

 Profit after tax 7,146 2,205 6,878 1,937 268 268 

 Noncontrolling interests 107 100 102 99 5 2 

 Profit attributable to shareholders of Volkswagen AG 7,039 2,104 6,777 1,838 263 266 

               

 Basic earnings per ordinary share (€)
2 

15.13 4.52         

 Diluted earnings per ordinary share (€)
2
 15.13 4.52         

 Basic earnings per preferred share (€)
2
 15.13 4.52         

 Diluted earnings per preferred share (€)
2
 15.13 4.52         

     

1 Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions. 

2 Explanatory notes on earnings per share are presented in note 4. 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income  
for the Period July 1 to September 30 

    
 € million 2011 2010 

       

 Profit after tax 7,146 2,205 

       

 Exchange differences on translating foreign operations     

 Unrealized currency translation gains/losses – 150 – 268 

 Transferred to profit or loss – – 

 Actuarial gains/losses – 1,014 – 1,172 

 Cash flow hedges     

 Fair value changes recognized in other comprehensive income – 2,340 3,432 

 Transferred to profit or loss – 50 49 

 Available-for-sale financial assets (marketable securities)     

 Fair value changes recognized in other comprehensive income 211 32 

 Transferred to profit or loss 37 – 15 

 Deferred taxes 973 – 658 

 Share of other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investments, net of tax – 258 127 

 Other comprehensive income, net of tax – 2,591 1,527 

       

 Total comprehensive income 4,555 3,731 

 of which attributable to     

 noncontrolling interests  66 150 

 shareholders of Volkswagen AG 4,489 3,581 
   

 

 

CHANGE I N TAX EFFECTS RELATI NG TO OTH ER COMPREH ENSIVE I NCOME 
      

 
  A M O U N T  

B E F O R E  TA X E S  TA X E S  

A M O U N T  

A F T E R  TA X E S  

A M O U N T  

B E F O R E  TA X E S  TA X E S  

A M O U N T  

A F T E R  TA X E S  

 € million     2011     2010 

 

Exchange differences on 

translating foreign 

operations – 150 – – 150 – 268 – – 268 

 Actuarial gains/losses – 1,014 301 – 713 – 1,172 346 – 826 

 Cash flow hedges – 2,390 680 – 1,710 3,481 – 999 2,482 

 

Available-for-sale 

financial assets 

(marketable securities) 248 – 8 239 16 – 5 11 

 

Equity-accounted 

investments, net of tax – 258 – – 258 127 – 127 

 

Other comprehensive 

income – 3,565 973 – 2,591 2,184 – 658 1,527 
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Income Statement Statement of Comprehensive Income Balance Sheet Statement of Changes in Equity Cash Flow Statement Notes to the Financial Statements  

I NTER IM FI NANC IAL STATEMENTS (CON DENSED)

  

Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 

     

   V O L K S WA G E N  G R O U P  D I V I S I O N S  

       A U T O M O T I V E *  FINANCIAL SERVICES 

 € million 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

 Assets             

 Noncurrent assets 128,233 113,457 71,394 62,133 56,839 51,325 

 Intangible assets 13,741 13,104 13,610 13,023 131 82 

 Property, plant and equipment 27,061 25,847 26,624 25,440 437 407 

 Leasing and rental assets 12,991 11,812 455 384 12,536 11,428 

 Financial services receivables 39,288 35,817 – 19 – 22 39,307 35,840 

 

Noncurrent investments, equity-accounted 

investments and other equity investments, other 

receivables and financial assets 35,152 26,877 30,724 23,309 4,427 3,568 

 Current assets 100,584 85,936 59,304 49,394 41,280 36,541 

 Inventories 23,100 17,631 21,200 16,393 1,901 1,238 

 Financial services receivables 31,964 30,164 – 349 – 238 32,313 30,403 

 Other receivables and financial assets 18,073 13,970 14,044 10,446 4,029 3,524 

 Marketable securities 5,375 5,501 4,625 5,375 750 126 

 Cash, cash equivalents and time deposits 22,072 18,670 19,784 17,419 2,288 1,251 

 Total assets 228,818 199,393 130,698 111,527 98,119 87,866 

               

 Equity and Liabilities             

 Equity 60,234 48,712 49,596 39,546 10,637 9,166 

 Equity attributable to shareholders of Volkswagen AG 57,507 45,978 47,114 37,048 10,394 8,930 

 Noncontrolling interests 2,726 2,734 2,483 2,498 244 236 

 Noncurrent liabilities 82,721 73,781 43,055 42,364 39,666 31,417 

 Noncurrent financial liabilities 43,015 37,159 6,508 8,989 36,507 28,170 

 Provisions for pensions 15,785 15,432 15,603 15,265 183 167 

 Other noncurrent liabilities 23,921 21,190 20,945 18,110 2,976 3,080 

 Current liabilities 85,863 76,900 38,047 29,617 47,816 47,283 

 Current financial liabilities 42,334 39,852 – 1,452 – 3,143 43,786 42,996 

 Trade payables 14,316 12,544 12,910 11,628 1,406 916 

 Other current liabilities 29,214 24,504 26,590 21,132 2,624 3,372 

 Total equity and liabilities 228,818 199,393 130,698 111,527 98,119 87,866 
     

* Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions, primarily intra-Group loans. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

 
   

 
      A C C U M U L AT E D  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E  

 € million 

Subscribed
capital Capital reserves 

 
 

Retained 
earnings 

Currency 
translation 

reserve 

 

  
   

 Balance at Jan. 1, 2010 1,025 5,356 31,607 – 1,881  

 Profit after tax – – 3,778 –  

 Other comprehensive income, net of tax – – – 1,350  

 Total comprehensive income – – 3,778 1,350  

 Capital increase* 166 3,970 – –  

 Dividend payment – – – 754 –  

 

Capital transactions involving a change in ownership 

interest – – – – 

 Other changes – – – 3 –  

 Balance at September 30, 2010 1,191 9,325 34,627 – 531  

            

 Balance at Jan. 1, 2011 1,191 9,326 37,684 – 165  

 Profit after tax – – 13,306 –  

 Other comprehensive income, net of tax – – – – 714  

 Total comprehensive income – – 13,306 – 714  

 Capital increase 0 3 – –  

 Dividend payment – – – 1,034 –  

 

Capital transactions involving a change in ownership 

interest – – 0 – 

 Other changes – – – 10 –  

 Balance at September 30, 2011 1,191 9,329 49,946 – 879  
   

* Volkswagen AG recorded a cash inflow of €4,099 million from the capital increase implemented in fiscal year 2010 by issuing new  

preferred shares. In addition to this, the noncash effects of recognizing deferred taxes amount to €35 million and an inflow from  

the exercise of convertible bonds amounts to €2 million. 
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Income Statement Statement of Comprehensive Income Balance Sheet Statement of Changes in Equity Cash Flow Statement Notes to the Financial Statements  

I NTER IM FI NANC IAL STATEMENTS (CON DENSED)

 

 
    

       

 

Reserve for 
actuarial 

gains/losses 
Cash flow  

hedge reserve 
Fair value reserve 

for securities 

Equity-
accounted 

investments 

Equity 
attributable to 

shareholders of 
VW AG 

Noncontrolling 
interests Total equity 

    
    

 – 1,274 860 – 1 – 409 35,281 2,149 37,430 

 – – – – 3,778 251 4,029 

 – 1,757 – 292 9 365 – 325 202 – 124 

 – 1,757 – 292 9 365 3,453 453 3,905 

 – – – – 4,136 – 4,136 

 – – – – – 754 – 43 – 798 

  

 

– – – – – 0 0 

 – – – – – 3 4 1 

 – 3,031 567 8 – 45 42,112 2,562 44,674 

               

 – 2,201 61 – 25 107 45,978 2,734 48,712 

 – – – – 13,306 336 13,642 

 – 191 168 266 – 265 – 736 – 121 – 857 

 – 191 168 266 – 265 12,570 215 12,785 

 – – – – 3 – 3 

 – – – – – 1,034 – 231 – 1,264 

  

 

– – – – 0 0 0 

 – – – – – 10 7 – 2 

 – 2,392 230 241 – 159 57,507 2,726 60,234 
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Cash Flow Statement for the Period January 1 to September 30 

     

   V O L K S WA G E N  G R O U P  D I V I S I O N S  

     A U T O M O T I V E
1

 F I NANCIAL SERVICES 

 € million 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 
 
 

 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 18,228 18,235 17,002 16,362 1,226 1,873 

 Profit before tax 16,637 5,444 15,608 4,608 1,029 836 

 Income taxes paid – 2,458 – 700 – 1,904 – 467 – 554 – 233 

 Depreciation and amortization expense 7,235 7,444 5,403 5,691 1,832 1,752 

 Change in pension provisions 3 83 – 1 81 4 2 

 

Other noncash income/expense and 

reclassifications
2 

– 6,855 – 836 – 6,933 – 804 77 – 32 

 Gross cash flow 14,561 11,435 12,173 9,110 2,388 2,326 

 Change in working capital – 7,825 – 948 245 2,396 – 8,070 – 3,344 

Change in inventories – 3,682 – 1,781 – 3,211 – 1,482 – 471 – 299 

Change in receivables – 3,478 – 2,406 – 2,500 – 2,300 – 979 – 107 

Change in liabilities 3,945 4,467 3,254 4,134 691 333 

Change in other provisions 2,945 2,280 2,719 2,139 226 141 

 

Change in leasing and rental assets  

(excluding depreciation) – 2,859 – 2,157 – 133 31 – 2,727 – 2,188 

 Change in financial services receivables – 4,697 – 1,351 114 – 127 – 4,811 – 1,225 

 Cash flows from operating activities 6,736 10,487 12,418 11,506 – 5,682 – 1,019 

 

Cash flows from investing activities attributable 

to operating activities – 8,432 – 6,454 – 8,605 – 6,327 174 – 127 

 

of which: acquisition of property, plant and  

   equipment – 4,332 – 3,402 – 4,227 – 3,327 – 106 – 75 

capitalized development costs – 1,154 – 1,342 – 1,154 – 1,342 – – 

acquisition and disposal of equity  

investments
3
 – 3,081 – 2,054 – 3,340 – 1,995 259 – 59 

 Net cash flow4 – 1,696 4,033 3,813 5,179 – 5,508 – 1,146 

 Change in investments in securities and loans – 723 – 2,280 69 – 2,274 – 792 – 6 

 Cash flows from investing activities – 9,155 – 8,734 – 8,537 – 8,601 – 618 – 134 

 Cash flows from financing activities 5,588 115 – 1,822 – 282 7,410 396 

 of which: capital increase by new preferred shares – 4,099 – 4,099 – – 

 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to 

exchange rate changes – 131 304 – 83 278 – 48 26 

 Net change in cash and cash equivalents 3,038 2,171 1,975 2,902 1,062 – 731 

               

 Cash and cash equivalents at September 30 21,265 20,407 18,977 19,264 2,288 1,142 

 Securities, loans and time deposits 9,875 9,823 7,239 8,206 2,636 1,618 

 Gross liquidity 31,141 30,230 26,217 27,470 4,924 2,760 

 Total third-party borrowings – 85,349 – 76,845 – 5,055 – 7,826 – 80,293 – 69,019 

 Net liquidity at September 30 – 54,208 – 46,615 21,161 19,644 – 75,369 – 66,259 

For information purposes: at January 1 – 49,347 – 52,052 18,639 10,636 – 67,986 – 62,688 
     

1 Including allocation of consolidation adjustments between the Automotive and Financial Services divisions. 

2 These relate mainly to the fair value measurement of financial instruments, application of the equity method and reclassification of gains/losses on disposal  

of noncurrent assets to investing activities. 

3 These relate mainly to the acquisition of the operating business of Porsche Holding, Salzburg, Austria, for €3,314 million, the shares of MAN SE, Munich,  

for €82 million and the investment in SGL Carbon SE, Wiesbaden, for €223 million, less cash and cash equivalents acquired attributable to Porsche Holding, Salzburg. 

4 Net cash flow: cash flows from operating activities, net of cash flows from investing activities attributable to operating activities.
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Accounting in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) 

In accordance with Regulation No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council, 

Volkswagen AG prepared its consolidated financial statements for 2010 in compliance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted by the European Union. These 

interim consolidated financial statements for the period ended September 30, 2011 were therefore 

also prepared in accordance with IAS 34. 

All figures shown are rounded in accordance with standard business rounding principles, so 

minor discrepancies may arise from addition of these amounts. 

The interim consolidated financial statements were not reviewed by auditors. 

In addition to the reportable segments, the Automotive and Financial Services divisions are 

presented for explanatory purposes alongside the income statement, balance sheet and cash 

flow statement for the Volkswagen Group. 

 

 

Accounting policies 

Volkswagen AG has complied with all accounting pronouncements adopted by the EU and effective 

for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011. These are primarily IAS 24, Related Party 

Disclosures, and IAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting. 

The option contained in the amended IAS 24 may lead to simplified reporting with respect to 

government-related entities and their subsidiaries. Volkswagen has not exercised this option. It 

also clarifies the definition of related parties and of reportable transactions. The reporting 

requirements governing related parties have therefore been supplemented by other contractual 

obligations. Prior-year figures have been adjusted. 

Under the amended IAS 34, material transfers between the various levels of the fair value 

hierarchy used in measuring the fair value of financial instruments, as well as material changes 

in the classification of financial assets in the interim financial statements, must be disclosed. 

The other accounting pronouncements required to be applied for the first time in fiscal year 

2011 are insignificant for the presentation of the Volkswagen Group’s net assets, financial position 

and results of operations. A detailed breakdown of these accounting pronouncements is provided 

in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in the 2010 Annual Report. 

A discount rate of 4.8% (December 31, 2010: 4.9%) was applied to German pension provisions 

in the accompanying interim financial statements. The decrease in the discount rate increased 

the actuarial losses for pension provisions that are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

The income tax expense for the interim reporting period was calculated on the basis of the 

average annual tax rate that is expected for the entire fiscal year, in accordance with IAS 34, 

Interim Financial Reporting. 

In other respects, the same accounting policies and consolidation methods that were used 

for the 2010 consolidated financial statements are generally applied to the preparation of the 

Interim Report and the presentation of the prior-year comparatives. A detailed description of 

the methods applied is published in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in the 

2010 Annual Report. This can also be accessed on the Internet at www.volkswagenag.com/ir. 

 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Basis of consolidation 

In addition to Volkswagen AG, which is domiciled in Wolfsburg and entered in the commercial 

register at the Braunschweig Local Court under no. HRB 100484, the consolidated financial 

statements comprise all significant companies at which Volkswagen AG is able, directly or 

indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies in such a way that the companies of the 

Group obtain benefits from the activities of these companies (subsidiaries). 

 

CONSOLI DATED SU BSI DIARI ES 

Volkswagen acquired 100% of the trading business of Porsche Holding, Salzburg, Austria for 

€3.3 billion effective March 1, 2011. Prior to the transaction, the previous indirect owners, the 

Porsche and Piëch families, had exercised the put option granted by Volkswagen AG. With this 

acquisition, which was already provided for in the Comprehensive Agreement, Volkswagen has 

taken another planned step on the way towards an integrated automotive group consisting of 

Volkswagen and Porsche.  

Porsche Holding is an automobile trading company with a strong presence in particular in 

Austria, the rest of Western Europe and Southeast Europe, as well as in China. It sold 565,000 new 

and used vehicles in calendar year 2010. Volkswagen is acquiring all automotive operations 

from Porsche Holding as well as the wholesale and retail trading business, Porsche Informatik (IT), 

Porsche Bank, Porsche Immobilien (real estate) and Porsche Versicherung (insurance), as well 

as PGA Motors headquartered in Paris. Porsche Holding employs approximately 20,900 people 

(including unconsolidated companies). 

Preliminary purchase price allocation indicates that the business combination generated 

goodwill of €152 million.  

The following table shows the preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the assets and 

liabilities:  
     

 € million 

IFRS carrying 
amounts at the 

acquisition date 
Purchase price 

allocation 

 
Fair values at the 
acquisition date  

   
    

 Brand names – 74 74  

 Other noncurrent assets
1
 2,862 1,435 4,297  

 Cash and cash equivalents 617 – 617  

 Other current assets 3,450 1 3,451  

 Total assets 6,929 1,510 8,438  

 Noncurrent liabilities 1,448 348 1,796  

 Current liabilities
2
 6,796 – 6,796  

 Total liabilities 8,243 348 8,591  
    

1  Excluding goodwill of Volkswagen AG. 

2 Of which €3.3 billion was settled using the purchase price. 

Goodwill and brand names are allocated to the Porsche Holding operating segment, which is part 

of the Passenger Cars and Light Commercial Vehicles reporting segment. 
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The gross carrying amount of the receivables acquired was €3,091 million at the acquisition date, 

and the net carrying amount (equivalent to the fair value) was €2,883 million. The depreciable 

noncurrent assets have maturities of between 12 months and 30 years.  

The inclusion of the company increased the Group’s sales revenue by €3,740 million and 

reduced its profit after tax by €95 million as of September 30, 2011. If Porsche Holding had 

been included as of January 1, 2011, the Group’s sales revenue after consolidation as of Septem-

ber 30, 2011 would have been €984 million higher and its profit after tax would have been  

€10 million lower.  

Porsche Holding’s contingent liabilities were not included in purchase price allocation 

because settlement is deemed to be remote. 

The fair values of the assets and liabilities were determined mainly using observable market 

prices. If market prices could not be determined, methods based on the income approach were 

used to measure the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

The transfer of Porsche Holding’s trading business increases the consolidated Group by 263 

consolidated subsidiaries and 90 equity-accounted joint ventures and associates. 

In addition, several German and foreign companies that were not consolidated in the 

previous year were initially consolidated. The initial inclusion of these subsidiaries, either 

individually or collectively, did not have a significant effect on the presentation of the Company’s 

position. 

 

I NTERESTS I N JOI NT VENTU RES 

The Volkswagen Group holds a 50% indirect interest in the joint venture LeasePlan 

Corporation N.V., Amsterdam, the Netherlands, via its 50% stake in the joint venture Global 

Mobility Holding B.V., Amsterdam, the Netherlands. Volkswagen agreed with Fleet Investments 

B.V., Amsterdam, the Netherlands, an investment company belonging to the von Metzler family, 

that Fleet Investments would become the new co-investor in Global Mobility Holding in 2010 for 

an initial period of two years. The previous co-investors were instructed by Volkswagen AG to 

transfer their shares to Fleet Investments B.V. on February 1, 2010 for the purchase price of 

€1.4 billion. Volkswagen AG granted the new co-investor a put option on its shares. If this option 

is exercised, Volkswagen must pay the original purchase price plus accumulated pro rata 

preferred dividends or the higher fair value. The put option is accounted for at fair value. 

In addition, Volkswagen pledged claims under certificates of deposit with Bankhaus Metzler 

in the amount of €1.4 billion to secure a loan granted to Fleet Investments B.V. by Bankhaus 

Metzler. This pledge does not increase the Volkswagen Group’s risk arising from the above-

mentioned short position. 
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I NVESTMENTS I N ASSOCIATES 

Effective January 15, 2010, Volkswagen acquired 19.89% of the shares of the Suzuki Motor 

Corporation, Hamamatsu, Japan, for €1.7 billion. Following the exercise of outstanding convertible 

bonds by other investors, Volkswagen’s interest in Suzuki fell to 19.37%. After acquiring 

additional shares, Volkswagen increased its interest to 19.89% as of June 30, 2010.  

Due to the economic cooperation agreed in the master agreement, Suzuki was classified as 

an associate until September 2011. The shares were measured using the equity method. The 

precise allocation of the purchase price to the assets and liabilities of the Suzuki Motor Corpo-

ration was completed in the current fiscal year. No significant adjustment to the figures allocated 

in the previous year was required. 

Following the notification by Suzuki dated September 13, 2011 that it intends to terminate 

its cooperation with Volkswagen, and because it is not clear at the present time whether any 

cooperation will be reestablished, Volkswagen is no longer in a position until further notice to 

exercise significant influence over Suzuki. Equity-method accounting was discontinued as of 

this date and the difference between the equity-accounted carrying amount and the fair value of 

the shares was recognized as an expense from associates as of the date of the change in the 

accounting policy. Including the reclassification to profit or loss of amounts previously 

recognized directly in equity, this results in an expense from discontinuation of the equity 

method amounting to €263 million. Since that date, the interest in Suzuki has been presented 

in other investees and measured at fair value directly in equity. 

As a further step towards creating an integrated commercial vehicle group comprising MAN, 

Scania and Volkswagen, the Volkswagen Group increased its share of the voting rights of MAN SE 

from 29.89% to 30.47% at the beginning of May 2011. This move also increased Volkswagen’s 

interest in the total capital of MAN SE from 28.67% to 29.21%.  

In accordance with German takeover law, Volkswagen then made a mandatory public offer to 

all external shareholders of MAN SE at the end of May 2011 to purchase their shares of MAN SE. 

MAN shareholders tendered 35,857,607 ordinary shares and 164,613 preferred shares to 

Volkswagen by the end of the acceptance period for the takeover offer on June 29, 2011. Once 

the required official approvals have been granted, Volkswagen will thus hold a total of 55.90% 

of the voting rights and 53.71% of the share capital, respectively, of MAN SE. The purchase price 

for the tendered shares amounting to €3.4 billion has been allocated to a separate earmarked 

account until the transaction has been completed. As before, this amount is included in 

reported cash and cash equivalents. 
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Disclosures on the consolidated financial statements 

1  |  Sales revenue 

STRUCTU RE OF GROU P SALES REVEN U E 
    

   Q 1 – 3    

 € million 2011 2010  

 Vehicles* 85,377 69,215  

 Genuine parts 7,255 6,643  

 Third-party products* 1,854 26  

 Other sales revenue* 10,044 6,965  

 Rental and leasing business 7,666 5,846  

 Interest and similar income 4,082 3,853  

   116,279 92,547  
   

* Prior-year figure adjusted because sales revenue from third-party products is now presented separately following the acquisition 

of Porsche Holding Salzburg. 

2  |  Cost of sales 

Cost of sales includes interest expenses of €1,802 million (previous year: €1,851 million) attributable 

to the financial services business.  

In addition to depreciation and amortization expenses, cost of sales also includes impairment 

losses on intangible assets, items of property, plant and equipment, and leasing and rental 

assets. The impairment losses identified on the basis of updated impairment tests amount to a 

total of €414 million (previous year: €893 million). 

 

 

3  |  Research and development costs in the Automotive Division 

   

   Q 1 – 3      

 € million 2011 2010 %  

 Total research and development costs 5,408 4,754 13.8 

of which: capitalized development costs 1,154 1,342 – 14.0 

 Capitalization ratio in % 21.3 28.2   

 Amortization of capitalized development costs 1,222 1,753 – 30.3 

 

Research and development costs recognized in the 

income statement 5,475 5,164 6.0 
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4  |  Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit attributable to shareholders of 

Volkswagen AG by the weighted average number of ordinary and preferred shares outstanding 

during the reporting period. Earnings per share are diluted by potential shares. These include 

stock options, although these are only dilutive if they result in the issuance of shares at a value 

below the average market price of the shares. A potential dilutive effect arose in the reporting 

period from the eighth tranche of the stock option plan. 
     

     Q 3  Q 1 – 3  

     2011 2010 2011 2010 

 Weighted average number of shares outstanding           

 Ordinary shares: basic million 295.1 295.0 295.1 295.0 

 diluted million 295.1 295.0 295.1 295.0 

 Preferred shares: basic million 170.1 170.1 170.1 149.8 

 diluted million 170.1 170.1 170.1 149.8 

             

 Profit after tax € million 7,146 2,205 13,642 4,029 

 Noncontrolling interests € million 107 100 336 251 

 Profit attributable to shareholders of Volkswagen AG € million 7,039 2,104 13,306 3,778 

             

 Earnings per share           

 Ordinary shares: basic € 15.13 4.52 28.58 8.47 

 diluted € 15.13 4.52 28.58 8.47 

 Preferred shares: basic € 15.13 4.52 28.64 8.53 

 diluted € 15.13 4.52 28.64 8.53 
    

 

 

5  |  Noncurrent assets 

C HANGES I N SELECTED NONCU RR ENT ASSETS BETWEEN JAN UARY 1 AN D SEPTEMBER 30,  2011 
     

 € million 

Carrying amount 
at Jan. 1, 2011 

Additions/
Changes in 

consolidated 
Group 

Disposals/
Other changes 

 

Depreciation and 
amortization 

Carrying amount 
at Sept. 30, 2011 

 Intangible assets 13,104 2,468 195 1,636 13,741 

 Property, plant and equipment 25,847 5,495 554 3,727 27,061 

 Leasing and rental assets 11,812 5,844 2,785 1,879 12,991 
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6  |  Inventories 

   
 € million Sept. 30, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010  

 Raw materials, consumables and supplies 2,974 2,494 

 Work in progress 2,178 1,837 

 Finished goods and purchased merchandise 13,970 10,819 

 Current leased assets 3,922 2,470 

 Payments on account 56 11 

   23,100 17,631 
   

 

 

7  |  Current receivables and other financial assets 

   
 € million Sept. 30, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010  

 Trade receivables 9,211 6,883 

 Miscellaneous other receivables and financial assets 8,863 7,087 

   18,073 13,970 
   

 

 

8  |  Equity 

Volkswagen AG issued 64,904,498 new preferred shares (with a notional value of €166 million) as 

part of a capital increase in the previous year. Volkswagen AG recorded a cash inflow of approximately 

€4.1 billion in 2010 from the capital increase.  

The subscribed capital is composed of 295,089,817 no-par value ordinary shares and 

170,142,778 preferred shares, and amounts to €1,191 million (previous year: €1,191 million). 

Volkswagen AG issued 44,250 new ordinary shares (with a notional value of €113,280) in the first 

nine months of 2011 as a result of the exercise of convertible bonds under the stock option plan. 

Volkswagen AG paid a dividend of €1,034 million in the reporting period. €649 million of 

this amount was attributable to ordinary shares and €385 million to preferred shares. 

 

 

9  |  Noncurrent financial liabilities 

   
 € million Sept. 30, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010  

 Bonds, commercial paper and notes 30,017 24,383 

 Liabilities to banks 8,326 7,494 

 Deposits from direct banking business 3,523 3,882 

 Other financial liabilities 1,148 1,400 

   43,015 37,159 
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10  |  Current financial liabilities 

   
 € million Sept. 30, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010  

 Bonds, commercial paper and notes 16,368 17,238 

 Liabilities to banks 6,628 6,245 

 Deposits from direct banking business 17,938 15,043 

 Other financial liabilities 1,399 1,327 

   42,334 39,852 
   

 

 

11  |  Disclosures on the fair value hierarchy 

Financial assets amounting to €53 million (December 31, 2010: €48 million) were transferred out 

of Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy to Level 2 in the first three quarters of 2011. There were no 

transfers of financial liabilities out of Level 3 into Level 2 during the reporting period 

(December 31, 2010: €5 million). The transfers out of Level 3 into Level 2 comprise commodity 

futures for which observable quoted prices are now available again for measurement purposes 

due to the decline in their remaining maturities; consequently, no extrapolation is required. 

There were no transfers between other Levels of the fair value hierarchy. 

 

 

12  |  Cash flow statement 

The cash flow statement presents the cash inflows and outflows in the Volkswagen Group and in 

the Automotive and Financial Services divisions. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks, 

checks, bills, cash-in-hand and call deposits. 
    
 € million Sept. 30, 2011 Sept. 30, 2010  

 

Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits as reported in the  

balance sheet 22,072 21,959  

 of which: time deposits – 807 – 1,552  

 Cash and cash equivalents as reported in the cash flow statement 21,265 20,407  
   

 

Cash inflows from financing activities in the current year are attributable primarily to the issuance 

of bonds, which are offset mainly by cash outflows from dividend payments. 
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13  |  Segment reporting 

Segments are identified on the basis of the Volkswagen Group’s internal management and 

reporting. In line with its multibrand strategy, each of the Group’s brands is managed by its own 

board of management. The Group targets and requirements laid down by the Board of Manage-

ment of Volkswagen AG or the Group Board of Management must be complied with to the extent 

permitted by law. The segment reporting therefore comprises the three reportable segments 

Passenger Cars and Light Commercial Vehicles, Scania Vehicles and Services, and Financial 

Services.  

The activities of the Passenger Cars and Light Commercial Vehicles segment cover the 

development of vehicles and engines, the production and sale of passenger cars and light 

commercial vehicles, and the genuine parts business. The individual passenger car brands and 

light commercial vehicles of the Volkswagen Group are combined on a consolidated basis in this 

segment.  

The Scania Vehicles and Services segment comprises in particular the development, production 

and sale of heavy commercial vehicles, the corresponding genuine parts business and related 

services.  

The activities of the Financial Services segment comprise dealer and customer financing, 

leasing, banking and insurance activities, as well as fleet management.  

Starting in fiscal year 2010, the financial services offered by the Scania brand are allocated 

to the Financial Services segment rather than the Scania segment. The previous Scania segment 

was therefore renamed Scania Vehicles and Services and the Volkswagen Financial Services 

segment was renamed Financial Services. In addition, the Chinese companies, including the 

Shanghai-Volkswagen Automotive Company and FAW-Volkswagen Automotive Company joint 

ventures, as well as the Porsche Zwischenholding GmbH joint venture, that were previously reported 

under unallocated activities in the reconciliation have been allocated to the Passenger Cars and 

Light Commercial Vehicles reporting segment to reflect their growing importance and the 

associated change in the internal reporting. As allowed by the revised IFRS 8, segment assets are 

no longer reported starting in fiscal year 2010. The prior-year figure was adjusted accordingly.  

The trading business of Porsche Holding acquired in fiscal year 2011 is allocated to the 

Passenger Cars and Light Commercial Vehicles segment, although the financial services acquired 

are presented in the Financial Services segment.  

At Volkswagen, segment profit or loss is measured on the basis of operating profit or loss. 

The reconciliation contains activities that do not by definition form part of the segments. It 

also contains all of the unallocated Group financing activities and the holding company function. 

Consolidation adjustments between the segments (including the purchase price allocation for 

Scania and Porsche Holding) are also contained in the reconciliation. 

As a matter of principle, business relationships between the companies within the segments 

of the Volkswagen Group are transacted at arm’s length prices. 
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R EPORTI NG SEGMENTS: Q1–3 2010* 
      

 € million 

Passenger Cars 
and Light 

Commercial 
Vehicles 

Scania
Vehicles and

Services 
Financial 
Services 

 

Total segments 

 

 

Reconciliation 

 

Volkswagen 
Group 

 

Sales revenue from 

external customers 76,598 5,620 9,698 91,916 631 92,547 

 

Intersegment sales 

revenue 4,982 137 611 5,730 – 5,730 – 

 Total sales revenue 81,581 5,757 10,309 97,647 – 5,099 92,547 

 

Segment profit or loss 

(operating profit or loss) 3,655 929 694 5,277 – 451 4,826 
     

* Prior-year figures adjusted. 

 

R EPORTI NG SEGMENTS: Q1–3 2011 
      

 € million 

Passenger Cars 
and Light 

Commercial 
Vehicles 

Scania
Vehicles and

Services 
Financial 
Services 

 

Total segments 

 

 

Reconciliation 

 

Volkswagen 
Group 

 

Sales revenue from 

external customers 96,543 7,056 11,697 115,296 983 116,279 

 

Intersegment sales 

revenue 6,171 144 1,030 7,345 – 7,345 – 

 Total sales revenue 102,714 7,200 12,726 122,641 – 6,362 116,279 

 

Segment profit or loss 

(operating profit or loss) 7,973 1,030 949 9,953 – 976 8,977 
     

 

 

R ECONC I LIATION* 
    

   Q 1 – 3   

 € million 2011 2010  

 Segment profit or loss (operating profit or loss) 9,953 5,277  

 Unallocated activities 113 100  

 Group financing – 5 3  

 Consolidation adjustments – 1,084 – 554  

 Operating profit 8,977 4,826  

 Financial result 7,660 618  

 Consolidated profit before tax 16,637 5,444  
   

* Prior-year figures adjusted. 
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14  |  Related party disclosures 

At 50.73%, Porsche Automobil Holding SE holds the majority of the voting rights in Volkswagen AG. 

The creation of rights of appointment for the State of Lower Saxony was resolved at the 

Extraordinary General Meeting of Volkswagen AG on December 3, 2009. As a result, Porsche 

Automobil Holding SE can no longer appoint the majority of the members of Volkswagen AG’s 

Supervisory Board for as long as the State of Lower Saxony holds at least 15% of Volkswagen AG’s 

ordinary shares. However, Porsche Automobil Holding SE continues to have the power to 

participate in the operating policy decisions of the Volkswagen Group. 
    

 

  S U P P L I E S  A N D  S E R V I C E S  

R E N D E R E D  

S U P P L I E S  A N D  S E R V I C E S  

R E C E I V E D  

   Q 1 – 3  Q 1 – 3  

 € million 2011 2010 2011 2010 

 Porsche Automobil Holding SE 1 0 – – 

 Supervisory Board members 1 0 0 0 

 Unconsolidated subsidiaries of VW AG 939 1,117 603 728 

 Joint ventures 8,578 4,595 1,010 531 

 Associates 55 99 162 151 

 Porsche Holding Salzburg and majority interests* 744 3,013 27 124 

 State of Lower Saxony and majority interests 6 9 0 0 
   

*  Until February 28, 2011. 

The call option agreed in the Comprehensive Agreement with Porsche Automobil Holding SE on 

the shares of Porsche Zwischenholding GmbH had a positive fair value of €8,641 million as 

measured in accordance with financial valuation techniques at the interim reporting date 

(December 31, 2010: €2,001 million), and the corresponding put option had a negative fair 

value of €99 million (December 31, 2010: €233 million). On September 8, 2011, following talks 

with Porsche Automobil Holding SE (Porsche SE), the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG 

came to the conclusion that the planned merger with Porsche SE cannot be implemented within 

the time frame laid down in the Comprehensive Agreement. Nevertheless, all parties remain 

committed to the goal of creating an integrated automotive group with Porsche and are convinced 

that they will succeed in doing so. Because of the legal hurdles that still exist, it is not possible 

from Volkswagen’s perspective at the present time to quantify the economic risks arising from a 

merger and hence to arrive at a valuation Porsche SE in order to determine the exchange ratio. 

The uncertainties are due in particular to the ongoing proceedings and lawsuits against Porsche 

SE in Germany and the USA on the grounds of alleged market manipulation. As the Board of 

Management believes that it will no longer be possible to adopt the General Meeting resolutions 

required for the merger of Porsche SE with Volkswagen AG by the end-2011 date as stipulated in 

the Comprehensive Agreement, the probability of a merger has been estimated at 0% (Decem-

ber 31, 2010: 50%) for the measurement of the options as of September 30, 2011. In addition to 

the change in the probability of the merger, the adjustment of the enterprise value attributable 

to the updated business plans of Porsche Zwischenholding GmbH in particular significantly 

affected the value of the options. The difference was recognized in the other financial result. 
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The Porsche and Piëch families exercised the put option relating to the trading business of 

Porsche Holding, Salzburg, Austria, granted to them by Volkswagen. The trading business was 

transferred on March 1, 2011 at a price of €3.3 billion. 

Factoring finance of €0.2 billion extended to a subsidiary of Porsche Zwischenholding GmbH 

at arm’s length conditions and collateral requirements was outstanding as of September 30, 2011 

(December 31, 2010: €0.2 billion); €76 million of this amount (December 31, 2010: € – million) 

was granted in the reporting period. 

 

 

15  |  Contingent assets and liabilities 

There were no significant changes as of September 30, 2011 in the contingent assets and liabilities 

described in the 2010 consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

German Corporate Governance Code 

The current declarations in accordance with section 161 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG – German 

Stock Corporation Act) on the German Corporate Governance Code by the Board of Manage-

ment and Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG, as well as those by the Board of Management 

and Supervisory Board of AUDI AG, are permanently available on the Internet at 

www.volkswagenag.com/ir and www.audi.com respectively. 

 

 

Significant events after the balance sheet date 

There were no significant events after the end of the first nine months of 2011. 

 

 

 

Wolfsburg, October 27, 2011 
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